# MUSIC FESTIVALS IN BRITISH COLUMBIA: EXAMINING STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS TO BUILD EFFECTIVE PARTNERSHIPS AND FOSTER SUSTAINABILITY

by

#### DOMINIQUE ROBYN HAZEL

Bachelor of Tourism Management, Thompson Rivers University, 2016 Events and Conventions Diploma, Thompson Rivers University, 2014

## A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

in the Department of Environmental Science

Thesis examining committee:

Courtney Mason (PhD), Associate Professor, Canada Research Chair and Thesis Supervisor, Faculty of Adventure, Culinary Arts and Tourism Rob Hood (PhD), Associate Professor and Committee Member, Faculty of Adventure, Culinary Arts and Tourism Peter Tsigaris (PhD), Professor and Committee Member, School of Business and Economics Elizabeth Halpenny (PhD), Associate Professor and External Examiner, Faculty of

Kinesiology, Sport, and Recreation, University of Alberta

August 2018 Thompson Rivers University

Dominique Robyn Hazel, 2018

## ABSTRACT

Music festivals are increasing in both popularity and diversity around the globe, due at least in part to their economic potential. A well planned and marketed festival can be a driver of community tourism and business growth. They can also strengthen the artistic culture and provide attendees with a highly sought after and unique experience. However, festivals are also known for producing waste and pollution, causing rifts in communities, and commonly running deficits. Current literature on festivals outline environmental implications, the importance of providing benefits to all stakeholders, and the need to fulfill economic potentials. Yet environmental issues persist and many festivals are viewed as unsuccessful on multiple fronts. Presently there is a major gap in the research on sustainable practices of festivals in Canada, with a particularly scarcity in British Columbia. This research reviews existing practices of music festivals within British Columbia, draws comparisons to those covered in the literature and evaluates the barriers and drivers of environmentalism faced by festival management. The thesis also addresses issues of sustainability by exploring the relationships between stakeholders and festival management, and assessing the way they shape environmental decisions and foster strong partnerships. A community-based participatory framework guides the study, using qualitative research methods in the form of in-depth interviews and surveys at three separate festivals within the interior of BC. This research demonstrates that a thorough understanding of these relationships can lead to partnerships that will create attainable environmental, economic, and sustainability goals. With escalating international competition for resources and a growing need to protect our natural environment, it is even more important for events to have the support of all those directly and indirectly impacted. This research fills a significant gap in festival literature and makes sound recommendations to improve stakeholder management practices and related environmental policies.

**keywords:** festivals, sustainability, environmental practices, community-based research, stakeholder relationships, power relations, tourism industries

Table of Contents	
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
Chapter One.	1
Introduction	1
THE INCREASING DEMAND FOR CRITICAL APPROACHES ON MUSIC FESTIVALS	2
CONTEXTUALIZING MUSIC FESTIVALS IN BRITISH COLUMBIA	9
METHODS AND MEDTHODOLOGICAL APPROACHES	13
RESEARCHER POSITIONALITY	18
OVERVIEW OF THESIS	19
LITERATURE CITED	21
Chapter Two	27
Creating New Incentives Through Environmental Literacy	27
CURRENT ENVIRONMENTAL PRACTICES AT MUSIC FESTIVALS	28
UNDERSTANDING THE BARRIERS TO CHANGE: THE INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL	
CONFLICTS OF ENVIRONMENTALISM	31
INCENTIVES TO CHANGE: AWARENESS AND SHIFTING VALUES	36
CONCLUSION	39
LITERATURE CITED	41
Chapter Three	46
The Role of Stakeholders in Shifting Environmental Practices	46
THE COMPLEXITY OF STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS	47
THE CONSUMPTION PATTERNS OF PATRONS	53
PUSHING THE MESSAGE TO ALL ENTITIES: HOW TO GENERATE CHANGE	66
CONCLUSION	72
LITERATURE CITED	74
Chapter Four.	79

iii

Music Festivals Tapping into Their Own Potential: Utilizing Existing Skills to F	oster
Sustainability	79
LIMITATIONS	80
CONCLUSION	81
LITERATURE CITED	86
Appendices	88
Appendix A: Interview Guide	
Appendix B: Survey Questions	90

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Courtney Mason, for his guidance, mentorship, and unwavering support. I have been extremely lucky to have a supervisor who recognized my full potential and cared so much about my work. I extend this appreciation to my committee, Dr. Rob Hood and Dr. Peter Tsigaris. Your genuine interest in my topic was ever encouraging and your time and feedback was tremendously valuable.

A sincere thank you to the festival managers who took the time to engage with me on these music festival issues and allowed me to interact with and survey festival attendees. The willingness to be honest and open with me about the barriers and incentives faced within their organization was critical to this study and demonstrated a clear passion for the industry.

Completing this work would have been all the more difficult if it were not for the support, friendship, and most of all the laughs provided by my peers in the Rural Livelihoods and Sustainable Communities Lab. I am indebted to them for their help. A special thank you to Kelsey Boulé, a great study partner and even better friend. I could not have done this without you.

I also want to thank my family and friends for their support and words of encouragement. To my parents, Mona and Greg, for not just being my second set of eyes, but for making sense of impossible sentences. A task that only people who know me better than I know myself could do, and I dedicate this milestone to them.

A profound thank you to Jeff Topham. There are not enough words to describe the kind of support provided by you, but unconditional comes close.

This research was generously supported by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC). The work was approved by the Thompson Rivers University's Research Ethics for Human Subjects Board, protocol no. 101609.

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Map of Studied Music Festivals (TOTA, 2017)	10
Figure 3.1 Gender Distribution by Festival	55
Figure 3.2 Age Distribution by Festival	55
Figure 3.3 Patron Origin by Festival	56
Figure 3.4 Patron Perspectives of Large Negative Impacts	57
Figure 3.5 Patron Ratings of Importance on Different Music Festival Elements	57
Figure 3.6 Very Important Practices as Rated by Survey Respondents	59
Figure 3.7 Awareness of Environmental Impacts Based on Gender	61
Figure 3.8 Very Important Practices Based on Gender	61
Figure 3.9 Awareness of Environmental Impacts Based on Age	63
Figure 3.10 Very Important Practices Based on Age	63

# Chapter One. Introduction

Festivals have been rooted in cultural history for thousands of years and scholars argue that they are a fundamental and essential human experience. These events range from religious celebrations, political assemblies, sport competitions, feasts and artistic platforms (Getz, 2005). Music festivals in particular have become an increasing trend in tourism because of their potential to develop businesses in local economies, improve destination marketing, and contribute to the success and diversity of artistic culture within a community (Quinn, 2006). They also provide the visitor with an opportunity to experience local culture and make connections with people who share the same interests, which can strengthen networks between different communities (Davis, 2016). Unfortunately, festivals are also attracting attention for their negative impacts on the environment and for creating conflict within host communities. Discourses of sustainability within music festivals often refer to financial stability, environmental stewardship and cultural preservation, yet existing literature often fails to encompass all three aspects. Current studies focus on environmental impacts, stakeholder management, and visitor motivations, using the resulting knowledge to develop recommendations designed to bolster economic sustainability. This research lacks a holistic view that incorporates each of these facets of sustainability and examines the way they affect inter-relationships. Music festivals are dynamic organizations, with multiple stakeholders such as business partners, community members and patrons, and this complexity needs to be recognized when addressing issues of sustainability.<sup>1</sup>

This study aims to fill this gap by working with festival management to understand stakeholder relationships from financial, environmental and cultural perspectives. It also presents knowledge of how patrons view environmental practices and the related impacts of music festivals, including how these affect their experience as an attendee. By using a community-based participatory research approach, this research identifies and articulates

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Academic studies vary between their usage of the word patrons, attendees, and visitors to refer to consumers of events, including music festivals. For the purpose of this thesis, the terms patrons and attendees are used interchangeably throughout the study.

clear and practical implications for festival design. Importantly, it adds British Columbia, Canada, to the body of literature and deepens understandings of both the complexity and the necessity of managing festivals on three different fronts: economic, environmental and cultural. The key objective of my research is to foster sustainability through strong communication between all parties and provide the foundation for the development of best practices, which will lead to the adoption of more sustainable industry standards.

Music festivals produce mass amounts of waste and pollution, which leaves a large ecological footprint and creates conflict in host communities. Research identifies problem areas and offers solutions, yet incorporating the knowledge is not a regular practice. This research project will present stakeholder and patron concerns along with their influence over management decisions and answer the following critical questions: 1) What are the current environmental practices at music festivals in B.C. and who is regulating them?; 2) What are the main barriers to environmentalism?; 3) What incentives for managers to implement improved environmental practices currently exist and do they foster change?; 4) How does festival management navigate through the complex stakeholder relationships and why is the inclusion of stakeholders so crucial to sustainability?; and 5) What are the concerns and motivations of consumers when thinking about environmental sustainability at music festivals? This research will demonstrate that improving stakeholder relations by identifying incentives and barriers to change will create a more economical, socio-cultural, and environmental sustainable music festival industry in B.C.

# THE INCREASING DEMAND FOR CRITICAL APPROACHES ON MUSIC FESTIVALS

As music festivals expand around the globe, research on their impact and sustainability is also gaining momentum in academic circles. Studies range from sociocultural functions and patron motivation, to economic benefits, sustainability, and more recently, environmental impacts. The majority of published research originates from Europe (Blesic et al., 2014; Karlsen & Nordström, 2008; Leenders, 2010; Luonila & Johansson, 2016), Australia (Laing & Mair, 2015; O'Rourke et al., 2011; Pegg & Patterson, 2010), several locations in Asia (Lee, 2016; Lee et al., 2015; Song et al., 2015), and the United States (Barber et al., 2014; Hudson et al., 2015), with a modicum of research on Canada (Getz et al., 2007; Nelson et al., 2011). A particular scarcity of research is noted in Western Canada and specifically in B.C. While the theories of sustainability developed around festivals are sound, it is important to recognize that cultural differences can significantly influence the applicability of the research findings (Getz & Andersson, 2008; Laing & Frost, 2010; Meynhardt et al., 2016). With differing genres and locations also comes changes in local laws and regulations, stakeholder relationships, visitor motivations, values in the host community, and patterns of communication. This literature review provides an overview of current research on music festivals, with particular attention paid to the environment, stakeholders, patrons, and community impacts.

Studies regarding music festivals and event tourism have expanded from social science origins to interdisciplinary areas of study. Music festival research has now been adopted in higher education and contributes to tourism development in commercial arenas (Getz & Page, 2016). Event structures, such as music festivals, have become "key marketing propositions in the promotion of places given the increasingly global competitiveness to attract visitor spending" (Getz & Page, 2016, p. 593). They serve an economic purpose, but more significantly, they provide a liminal space for attendees where patrons are liberated from their social constraints (Crompton & McKay, 1997; Mohr et al., 1993; Pernecky, 2015). Music festivals typically last between one to eleven days and accrue the majority of their income through ticket sales and sponsorship (Andersson & Getz, 2009).

Festival structures continuously interact with their environment. The structure itself becomes home to attendees for the duration of the festival, where people eat, sleep, relate with one another, and essentially use the resources of that environment to live. Locations are therefore carefully chosen as it determines the design and staging of the whole event, an integral component in the creation of the festival atmosphere. There is an increasing awareness that festivals of all kinds must become more environmentally friendly (Laing & Frost, 2010), but environmental degradation remains a major concern at these events (Getz, 2013; Collins & Cooper, 2017). The environmental impact of festivals has been measured in numerous ways, including lifecycle assessments (Toniolo et al., 2017), carbon footprints (Horng et al., 2014), ecological footprints (Collins & Cooper, 2017), and destination effects (Li et al., 2014). Mair and Laing (2012) also applied a conceptual model by Mair and Jago (2010) to music festivals that aims to understand the greening process and underpin the

development of strategies to enhance greening (Mair & Laing, 2012). These assessments reveal festival issues such as the production of massive amounts of waste, pollution of air, water, and land, water and energy usage, and effects on wildlife and habitat (Getz, 2013; Dutta et al., 2016; Tronstad & Gelderblom, 2016). Many scholars have analyzed the implications of such impacts and offered suggestions for festival managers on how to mitigate impacts and better incorporate greening strategies into their festival design. These strategies include improvements to transportation such as carpooling programs, secure bicycle racks, free transit, shuttles, and charters (Laing & Frost, 2010; Horng et al., 2014). Suggestions for minimizing energy usage include using biodiesel fueled generators, solar or wind power, as well as offering carbon offsets to attendees (Laing & Frost, 2010). Common options for dealing with waste include recycling programs, compostable toilets ("humanure") and cutlery, as well as offering excess food to charities (Laing & Frost, 2010).

Despite numerous academic reviews and assessments, many music festivals still struggle to meet what many feel are easily achievable environmental standards. Scholars criticize the different environmental impact assessments as being little more than an attention grabbing tool, in that they fail to provide useful information for making informed environmental decisions. This is due, at least in part, to a limited understanding of how consumer activities relate to impact (Collins & Cooper, 2017). Other main barriers to implementation identified by Mair and Laing (2012) are the lack of support from stakeholders (particularly local government), time constraints, control over venues and patrons, and availability of sustainable suppliers and supplies. Festivals are project-based organizations (Luonila & Johansson, 2016) where resources and goals are negotiated by multiple parties, thus it is crucial that the festival management team choose the right organizations to develop relationships with in order to achieve their environmental sustainability goals (Getz et al., 2007).

Collaboration between resource outfitters and stakeholders is a permanent element of festival design (Andersson & Getz, 2008). The relationships of stakeholders in the festival industry are complex, often further complicated by the fact that the same stakeholder may hold multiple roles that evolve throughout the festival's life cycle (Karlsen & Nordstrom, 2008; Turkulainen et al., 2016). The intricate relationships between stakeholders and festival management, as well as between different stakeholder groups themselves, has led to the

application of multiple theories and approaches to managing festivals including resource dependency, institutional theory, and stakeholder theory (Getz et al., 2007). Resource dependency examines an organization's interdependence by looking at their needs in comparison to the provider's control over the resources. This often leads to suggestions for actions to manage dependencies (Getz, 2005). Institutional theory analyzes how an organization addresses a fundamental social, cultural, or economic need. This theory often suggests for festivals to improve sustainability by conforming to the norms and expectations of the institutional environment (Andersson & Getz, 2008). Stakeholder theory is the most widely adopted theory in festival literature, as it provides an effective management tool for understanding the multifaceted relationships between stakeholders (Todd et al., 2017). Stakeholder theory was first introduced by Freeman in 1984 and recognizes that there are various individuals within any organizational context that both influence and are influenced by the organization. The theory was originally developed to address the need to classify and evaluate the concepts of corporate social performance and responsibility and has been growing as a topic of significance in the literature since the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Carroll, 1991; Todd et al., 2017). Stakeholder theory can be understood as a method of ranking the priority of stakeholders based on their power, legitimacy, and urgency in order to develop management strategies (Mitchell et al., 1997; Mossberg & Getz, 2006). Power is concerned with the stakeholder's influence over the organization in hand with the organization's dependency. Legitimacy refers to the stakeholder's relationship with the organization (legal, contractual, ownership, etc.), while urgency refers to the ability of stakeholders to gain management attention along with their level of demand (Mitchell et al., 1997). Reflecting on these foundational relationships is critical in order to gain an understanding of how they affect festival viability and long-term sustainability. Every festival is unique in its stakeholder relations. Power, legitimacy, and urgency will shift with festival ownership. For example, the different orientations between private, public, or not for profit ownership are significant (Andersson & Getz, 2009).

Stakeholder theory enables insight into the patterns of changing roles as they become extended and blurred. This provides perspectives for future event development and management (Karlsen & Nordstrom, 2008; Todd et al., 2017). This theory also addresses the economic sustainability of festivals in a very robust way, which can pinpoint the principal

groups to build relationships with in order to secure support during financial hardships. This is a significant aspect for long-term sustainability of festivals (Getz & Andersson, 2008), but it does not always account for environmental interests. In this regard, because stakeholders have so much control over and play such a major role in the creation of festivals, the environmental discrepancies cannot be solved without their support. Stakeholders also benefit greatly from becoming involved with festivals. Festivals are a platform in which partners can improve their own activities and forge new collaborations among business partners, which facilitates relationships with other enterprises and offers benefits from collaborative value creation (Luonila & Johansson, 2016). In practice, stakeholder theory aims to understand the relationship impacts of all groups, beyond those of financial shareholders (Todd et al., 2017). This study utilizes stakeholder theory as a guide because of its purpose to relate to more than one partner. Stakeholder theory considers the wider environment of people or entities that can affect, or be affected by, an organization's actions, rather than directing focus only on dependencies, shareholders, or the institution (Andersson & Getz, 2008). While current literature on music festivals examined through stakeholder theory considers multiple entities, there is limited research that has resulted in management outcomes designed towards environmental sustainability specifically. Debates throughout management literature center around "strategic functions such as corporate planning, performance, systems theory and corporate social responsibility" (Todd et al., 2017, p. 496). An example is research by Clarkson (1995) who argues success is dependent on providing satisfaction to primary stakeholders whereas Jawahar and McLaughlin (2001) argue that different stakeholders are more important based on their ability to meet an organization's need. Andersson and Getz (2008) acknowledge that often certain stakeholders are favoured, particularly because of resource dependency, and stated "many of the strategies of necessity involve key stakeholders, especially those pertaining to financial health and marketing" (p. 215). Therefore, the aim of using stakeholder theory within this study is to analyze how different stakeholders are affecting environmental strategy.

Patrons and the host community are two key stakeholders in the music festival industry. Patrons are voluntarily involved with the festival, attending for a variety of reasons that are unique to each festival (Blesic et al., 2014; Leenders, 2010). The motivations of patrons to attend music festivals have been thoroughly studied by academics, as

understanding these motives leads to more effective marketing, increased attendance, and therefore greater profitability (Getz, 2013). There is no exhaustive list of motivations identified by scholars, however, the main motivations can be categorized into atmosphere, music, feelings of escape, togetherness, solidarity, and socialization. In this context, it is the presence of music rather than the quality of the lineup that draws participation and has an effect on the patron's experience (Leenders, 2010). Attendees seek out an experience that brings a sense of belonging, or communitas, which describes "an intense community spirit, resulting from a shared experience associated with an atmosphere of social equality, sharing, intimacy and togetherness" (Stone, 2008, p. 215). The motivational factors and symbolic meaning behind a festival are emphasized here because it is pertinent to the argument that attendees' motives do not revolve solely around shallow celebration, and that there is a greater sense of purpose behind these events (Laing & Mair, 2015).

The festival atmosphere is facilitated by music, venue, theme, the surrounding environment, and the attendees themselves. Perspectives from patrons on environmental concerns within music festivals should be considered by management and other stakeholder groups as it is an intricate part in the creation of value for the target audience (Morgan, 2008). Despite the growing interest in environmental issues around music festivals, there is an extremely limited number of studies that involve patrons and their perceptions on green initiatives (Wong et al., 2015). It has been shown, for example, that visitor intention to recycle is influenced by how individuals perceive recycling against their own satisfaction, convenience, and self-image (Barber et al., 2014). Additionally, O'Rourke et al. (2011) demonstrated that festival goers are aware of the impacts. Current literature has yet to verify, yet alone measure, the extent to which attendees are concerned with environmental impacts even though it is known that attendees expect some level of sustainability from the festival organizers (Mair & Laing, 2012). Meeting these expectations is incredibly vital, as satisfaction of patrons in turn increases loyalty and influences their intent to return and recommend the festival to others (Cossio-Silva et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2014; Wong et al., 2015). Additionally, festivals have the potential to teach their attendees about greening in their own lives, as findings show a positive linkage between green festival involvement and perceived value (Wong et al., 2015). This is further supported by the many scholars who speak to the potential that festivals hold for delivering education to a large and broad

audience (Barber et al., 2014; Getz, 1991; O'Rourke et al., 2011). There is a critical gap in the research that studies patron perspectives, and scholars have urged an exploration of this area of research (Laing & Frost, 2010; Mair & Laing, 2012). This study begins to address this gap, and furthers the argument that music festivals can serve as an opportune learning environment as well as initiate a change in values.

As a main stakeholder, the host community must also be given careful consideration. The community does not participate voluntarily, but nevertheless must bear the impacts of the festival, both positive and negative (Lee et al., 2015). The benefits of the festival to the locals, such as an increase in tourism, local business, employment opportunities, and a positive cultural atmosphere, must outweigh the negatives, including congestion, pollution, waste, and noise (Lee et al., 2015). Gaining the support of the local community is imperative in ensuring the long-term viability of the event, therefore consultation helps to mitigate backlash from any negative impacts (Song et al., 2015). As festivals and tourism are often associated with terms such as public goods, merit goods, and social equity (Andersson & Getz, 2009), and because they require public resources, local government involvement is nearly inevitable. This can play a positive role in the creation of an atmosphere by regulating festival impacts (Lee, 2016). Although community members and festival goers may not be aware of exact policies in place or influenced by the presence of governmental authorities, there is an expectation of safety, cleanliness, and security at any festival (Lee, 2016; O'Rourke et al., 2011). Festival guests are concerned with the venue as it directly influences their experience, while the host community is concerned with the surrounding physical environment. Regardless of the fact that festivals can be heavily driven by economic goals, the outcomes and consequences must be examined at both personal and societal levels (Lee, 2016).

Environmental impacts remain an issue in music festivals despite the variety of assessment tools and suggestions for green initiatives. While festivals naturally vary in their energy usage, waste production and environmental degradation, managers are aware that to make the required changes it is not a one-dimensional consideration that can be made solely internally. Operational decisions can have both primary and secondary impacts, and may also impact budgets or require additional financing. Stakeholders are a cornerstone in festival design, but have also been identified as a barrier to green practices (Mair & Laing, 2012).

Integrating more than one theoretical model into the study design will provide the basis for viewing music festivals through a wider lens in order to capture the dynamics of these phenomena (Song et al., 2015).

Triple Bottom Line (TBL) is a framework growing in popularity within many industries. The theory evaluates performance based on financial, environmental, and social perspectives (Richardson & Henriques, 2004). The goal of my research is to use stakeholder theory and include festival attendees to advance the TBL approach. The link between TBL and stakeholder theory is predicated on the fact that the success of a music festival is directly related to its stakeholder associations. A study by Hede (2007) links TBL and stakeholder theory to both optimize the positive outcomes and reduce negative outcomes of special events, and grants equal consideration to economic, social, and environmental impacts. This study focuses on the influence of stakeholder relationships within the TBL framework of a music festival, with particular attention centered on environmental aspects. This focus will identify new hierarchical status' of stakeholders from the lens of festival managers in regards to not only economics, but with an emphasis on environmental and socio-cultural aspects as well.

#### **CONTEXTUALIZING MUSIC FESTIVALS IN BRITISH COLUMBIA**

There is a vast amount of research that covers the impact of festivals, particularly economic contributions (Formica & Uysal, 1998; Gursoy et al., 2004), visitor motivations (Blesic et al., 2014; Saleh & Ryan, 1993), community impacts (Vestrum, 2014; Yolal et al., 2016), and stakeholder analyses (Getz & Andersson, 2010). Festival tourism has become a common referral in studies, implying that some festivals are built as a place-marketing tool with tourism objectives in mind. Further research problematizes this term (Quinn, 2006; Getz & Andersson, 2008). Although festivals will always have an impact on the tourism market, the exploitation of festivals solely for tourism and place marketing purposes comes with costs, such as the loss of a sense of place, often known as "festivalization" (Richards, 2007). Music festivals are not just economic drivers but are cultural celebrations embedded in history and serve as an important social and cultural function for many cities and peoples (Andersson & Getz, 2008; Quinn, 2006; Richards, 2007). The setting, values, purpose, and overall goal of the festival as an organization is critical to understand when analyzing

practices as these traits exert a heavy influence on the operations of the festival, including decision making, partnership and collaboration, and financing. The type of ownership also directly affects operations. Private (for profit) festivals are more customer-oriented, have more employees, depend heavily on artists, have larger monetary turnover, and have better developed financing from ticket sales and corporate sponsorship. Not-for-profit festivals are more product oriented as they have less employees and more volunteers who have a stronger influence. In these cases, decisions are mainly made by members and/or a board of directors (Andersson & Getz, 2009).

Although Canada is home to a large number of music festivals, it remains an understudied region in comparison to countries across Europe and Asia. British Columbia in particular is known for its diverse natural landscape, making it a popular host destination. Currently, there are an average of forty music festivals between the months of June and September in B.C. and this number continues to grow (ToDoCanada, 2018). Research for this paper took place within the interior of B.C. at three separate music festivals: Bass Coast; Rockin' River Music Festival; and Salmon Arm Roots and Blues Music Festival (see Figure 1.1). Each festival has a unique theme and atmosphere. These festivals are staple events within each host community and they offer three very different experiences.



Figure 1.1 Map of Studied Music Festivals (TOTA, 2017).

Bass Coast, the first festival studied, had its ninth annual event July 7<sup>th</sup> to 10<sup>th</sup>, 2017. Nestled in the Nicola Valley just outside of Merritt, B.C., this artist-owned and operated festival is a four day/three-night event centering around electronic dance music (EDM) and art. A community is created in the midst of the valley as every piece is treated as art, from food vending to interactive installations by local artists. Although a private organization, the organizers also include a not-for-profit component, using bar sales to help fund the artists that turn their forest into a mirage of art. The vendors are curated by a staff member with the purpose to ensure diversity and encourage local vending. Bass Coast describes B.C.'s natural beauty as a quintessential element of the Bass Coast experience and prides itself in its ability to provide an inclusive environment where attendees feel inspired to participate to the fullest. Andrea Graham, Bass Coast co-founder, describes the festival as an "intimate boutique style festival" based around creating a platform for arts of all types (personal communication, October 27, 2017). The festival focuses on the subculture rather than the mainstream and strives to deliver a new experience to its attendees every year. In recent years, the festival sells out even before releasing their artistic line-up. This showcases the loyalty and trust of their customers, as 5,000 people choose to spend their first weekend of July at Bass Coast experiencing new musical and artistic talent while immersed in nature. As a rural festival, there are no restrictions on noise levels, and music runs all day and night. This is a smallscale festival and is funded through patrons with no sponsorship and instead focuses on the consumer experience, art, and the environment.

Rockin' River Music Festival takes place annually over the B.C. Day long weekend, from August 3<sup>rd</sup> to 6<sup>th</sup>, in the same Nicola Valley as Bass Coast, just outside of Merritt. However, location is the only thing the two festivals share, as Rockin' River presents a different atmosphere and music genre. It includes a star-studded country music line-up that in 2017 featured well known artists such as Toby Keith and country legend Willie Nelson. The festival was originally staged in Mission, B.C. but in 2015, as the festival grew in popularity, organizers seized the opportunity to move the festival to the larger, more scenic location. The family-owned and operated country music festival boasts a number of extra experiences in addition to the hard hitting line-up, that offers a multitude of activities for all ages such as swimming, helicopter rides, a mechanical bull, biking trails, and games. The festival also features a variety of food vendors, including some local Indigenous vendors, but the festival's biggest attraction is the camping experience. Running directly through the festival grounds is the Coldwater River where an average of 12,000 campers are all situated alongside. This offers attendees a place to cool off and play as summer temperatures rise. Campers are able to choose their campground depending on the level of involvement and interaction they are looking to have with other attendees, from sites such as "Chattahoochee" across from the Beach Stage with a 4:00 AM noise curfew, to grounds slightly further from the main site with curfew of 12:00 PM. No matter the age, Rockin' River Music Festival remains dedicated to their fan base. As stated by their founder, "If you're a country music fan, you're going to like what we put on the table" (L. Dean, personal communication, November 10, 2017). This is a private music festival with a strong focus on bringing in the best country artists and providing all ages with an engaging experience.

The Salmon Arm Roots and Blues celebrates their annual music festival the third weekend of August. They recently achieved the milestone of 25 years during their August 17<sup>th</sup> to August 20<sup>th</sup>, 2017 event. This is a not-for-profit music festival that is run predominantly through the support of its community, relying on over 800 people in volunteer positions alone and attracting up to 10,000 attendees. The festival is centrally located in Salmon Arm, B.C. on the city's fairgrounds, which are close to grocery stores, main highways, local amenities, and community members' homes. This urban-centered festival has long been established as a family-friendly destination spot and features a range of music from blues to bluegrass, Celtic to Cuban and Americana to afro-beat. Four unique stages, including a barn-transformed stage, host forty culturally diverse artists that are strategically picked to engage Roots and Blues' multi-generational audience. In addition to the musical line-up, the festival has local buskers performing alongside major pathways, free interactive sessions such as drumming, as well as pop-up theatrical performances from a local arts and music studio. A popular feature includes the daytime workshops where artists from around the world collaborate on the spot, stunning people with their ability to play music on an improvisational basis. The festival offers classy wine tents and casual beer gardens, child care and play areas, and late entry discounts, therefore it has appeal to a wide audience. Roots and Blues began with small folk shows in the community halls and has now grown to become a staple event in the city while maintaining its small-town charm. Although the festival has grown tremendously, it is still "first and foremost a family friendly event" which

is "something that we have taken a lot of time to develop and continue to develop" (D. Gonella, personal communication, July 19, 2017). It remains a not-for-profit music festival that books an eclectic genre of music.

These festivals showcase the great diversity of just three music festivals within a 200 kilometer radius. Just as each festival is distinctive in its purpose and experience, their interactions with stakeholders and the environment are also diverse. Understanding the differences between these festivals on the basis of values provides additional insight and allows for further exploration of how the setting and environment affect management decisions and patron behavior. Each festival attracts a different consumer type, drawn to their festival of choice not only by the genre but the experience it offers. This also invites different levels of interest from sponsors, business partnerships, collaborators, and other stakeholders (Huang et al., 2014; Pera et al., 2016). It is the differences and similarities, as well as the successes and failures, of each festival that shape how organizations can begin to overcome barriers to change and reach new goals of sustainability.

#### METHODS AND MEDTHODOLOGICAL APPROACHES

Research on music festivals in B.C. suggests that they are severely understudied. This thesis marks a significant new contribution to a limited body of knowledge. The main objective is to deepen understandings of festivals in B.C., establish the priorities of stakeholders, develop a sense of potential industry standards, and improve the knowledge around stakeholder salience and audience perspectives on the sustainability of music festivals. In terms of practical implications, insight from festival managers around the communication and relationships between their stakeholders is key. A community-based participatory research framework (CBPR) guided this study. This is an approach that involves researchers and participants working as partners in multiple aspects of the research process (Daley et al., 2010; Israel et al., 2005), which facilitates co-learning to achieve a balance between research and action (Frerichs et al., 2016; Leung et al., 2004). CBPR principles have proven their worth in health sciences (Frerichs et al., 2016; O'Fallon & Dearry, 2002; Townsend et al., 2016), but these principles also have strong applicability to other disciplines, including in this study's context dealing directly with festival organizations and their stakeholder partners. There has been a rapid increase of CBPR projects over the

past two decades, and consequently a corresponding need for guiding principles (O'Fallon & Dearry, 2002). A number of principles were endorsed in 2001 by the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS) and the following were critical to the formation of a framework for this study: 1) to promote active collaboration and participation at every stage of research; 2) to foster co-learning; 3) to ensure projects are community driven; 4) to disseminate results in useful terms; and, 5) to ensure the research process is culturally appropriate (O'Fallon & Dearry, 2002). This project collaborated with management in the design and development of interview questions to ensure that the conversations would capture relevant information around issues that are important to festival management. Interview transcripts were shared with the managers afterwards for them to review, correct, expand upon, or retract any information. Additionally, managers were encouraged to ask questions and provide feedback throughout the study. The review and approval of all information by festival managers was essential to the integrity of this study because a key element of community-based research is to accurately capture without influencing, and create results that are beneficial to all those involved (Ablah et al., 2016). Collaboration in the development of the interviews led to discussions around topics that provided information that was not only beneficial for this thesis in an academic framework, but also that informed festival managers and provided them with clarity around issues that they are facing in the industry. This study was particularly beneficial to both researchers and festival managers, in that it led to new findings in regards to patron perspectives of sustainability, many of which were either unknown or were erroneous assumed by management or stakeholders in the industry. This project worked not only with management, but also engaged the festival community directly through on-site surveys. The participants of the surveys were festival patrons, many of whom are members of the host community. The local community and patrons are an integral part of what makes a festival a success, and their direct involvement and feedback opens new doors for communication with management around sustainability. Formal dissemination of the results appears in the form of this thesis, however for practical use and implication for managers, non-academic reports were developed. These are ten page reports that deliver key results and relay important themes of the research in a direct way for festival managers. This comprises concise insights on barriers and incentives to environmentalism, including stakeholder relationships and their effect on festival

sustainability. Survey results are also presented with short discussions and recommendations on how to move forward with the results. It might also be noted that all of the above are the product of many hours of formal and informal discussion and engagement with festival managers. Due of this, and our commitment to transparency, little of what they will read in our formal reports will be a complete surprise. Surveys were administered in person and on site by the researcher, which were preceded by discussions with management prior to the festivals to ensure that the content and interactions between researcher and participant would not compromise the core values of the festival. Upholding the culture at each music festival and not disrupting the experience of the festival attendee was crucial to the implementation of the surveys for retaining the support of management, and also for gaining patron trust to partake in the survey. Efforts were made to minimize the extent to which the interactions between interviewer and participants might shape and influence the festival experience of patrons. Ensuring that this interaction was informed and guided by management of each festival provided a greater degree of confidence that researcher interaction was not intrusive and was instead aligned in a way that ensured that festival's values and culture would be sustained.

This is a cross-sectional study with a small sample size, where the sample festivals were carefully chosen to capture a wide spectrum of theoretical and practical implications addressing sustainability. Research was conducted throughout the summer of 2017 at festivals within the interior of B.C. These festivals included: Salmon Arm Roots and Blues; Bass Coast in Merritt; and, Rockin' River Festival in Merritt. All are of a similar size, ranging from 5,000 to 10,000 attendees, yet each festival is unique in its values, atmosphere, theme, and music genre. These festivals were chosen because of their diversity in demographics and psychographics. Roots and Blues has a long history, celebrating its 25<sup>th</sup> anniversary this August, and it generally attracts an older audience. Bass Coast features electronic dance music and attracts a younger generation. Rockin' River Festival moved from its original location in Mission and is now hosted in Merritt and it features country music, attracting a diverse audience across gender and age. Studying three festivals that vary so greatly allowed for awareness into how demographics and genre of a festival influences the demand and uptake of sustainable practices.

This research used qualitative methods in the form of in-depth interviews with festival directors and/or site managers. Festival directors and site managers deal directly with stakeholders when negotiating costs and partnerships and are in charge of implementing recycling, waste, and other environmental programs. Semi-structured interviews were conducted in person or over the phone depending on the preference of the interviewee. The questions were developed to gain qualitative data on the influence and effects of each stakeholder, drawing upon debates around environmental and cultural issues to understand the concerns of listed stakeholders. Open-ended questions allow for more flexibility and indepth responses, where concepts can evolve and underlying ideas may emerge (Taylor et al., 2015). Structured questions are included within the interview process to also generate quantitative data around the number of environmental programs within the three festivals for comparative analysis. Two of the interviews were conducted in person, one on one, and two were done over the phone. Interview questions were delivered beforehand for review, and the interviews took place in a setting of their choice, such as home offices or festival sites, in order to create a comfortable atmosphere between participants and the interviewer. The interviews averaged one hour in duration.

It is imperative to provide a brief background on each interviewee. Andrea Graham is the manager, co-founder and artistic director of Bass Coast music festival. In addition to starting a successful music festival from the ground up, funded directly through ticket sales with no sponsorship, she is also a popular D.J. known as The Librarian. She often performs at other music festivals and has been involved in the music industry through many different outlets as a performer, attendee and organizer. The green team manager of Bass Coast, Maria Yasel, was also interviewed to gain more detail of the environmental programs on site. Yasel began as a volunteer for the Bass Coast environment crew in 2012 with previous experience as a volunteer for numerous festival environment crews. In 2013, she assumed the role of green team manager for Bass Coast. David Gonella is the third interviewee and executive director of Roots and Blues. Gonella has been in this position with Roots and Blues for two years, but has been with the festival for much longer. He formerly acted as their volunteer coordinator and site coordinator, as well as production manager. As the executive director, Gonella oversees majority of the organization's departments, is in charge of site planning, aids with sponsorship and event marketing, and often acts as the face of the event when the artistic director is unavailable. The manager of Rockin' River and fourth interviewee requested to remain anonymous and has been given the pseudonym of Larry Dean for this study. He is the founder of the festival and his role encompasses management of all departments. Duties within his position also include booking all talent, managing the site, securing policing and security, and dealing with many other stakeholders such as city officials. Dean comes from a family of musicians and is a successful country artist himself. He tours internationally and performs at popular country music festivals. The participants of these interviews are all people of incredible standing within the festival industry and bear the responsibilities for the festival success. As each respondent is of high standing in their field, recruitment was done through personal contact information provided to the researcher from Billy Collins, a Senior Lecturer and respected industry professional at TRU. Participants were reached out to via e-mail where they were briefed on the idea of the study and to assess their level of interest. Follow-up phone calls were then made to discuss details of the project and gather feedback from each participant. Moving forward, interview dates were set based on the interviewees schedules (See Appendix A for interview questions).

Visitor surveys are generally recognized for their effectiveness in obtaining formative, process, and summative information for basic types of planning and marketing evaluations (Getz, 1991). These surveys were designed to capture process and summative information. Process data focuses on the actual operations while summative or outcome evaluations identify, measure, and determine the significance and implications of event impacts (Getz, 1991). The questions therefore revolve around the opinions and perceptions of festival patrons with regard to the environmental structure of the festival they are attending. Managers of each festival expressed concern that the survey could negatively impact patron festival experience, which therefore limited the number of questions that could be asked of the festival attendees. The surveys were designed to take no longer than five minutes and they consisted of ten questions. The questions were created to inquire about patrons' understanding of environmental awareness, importance of programs and practices, and willingness to contribute towards festival environmentalism. Language was designed to be comprehensible and there were no long-answer options. The survey concluded with questions to capture demographics of age, sex, and location of home residence. Surveys were administered to attendees in person via Survey Monkey through tablets and iPhones. On-site

intercept sampling was used, where participants are systematically selected using every fifth person in line ups or past a given point, such as entry or exit gates and vendor line-ups. Although an effective option to produce results without arbitrary selection bias (Getz, 1991), the method does involve challenges as not all who are approached are willing to participate. In this scenario, attendees were thanked for their time and the next patron in line was approached. Given the nature of festival atmospheres, it is common for attendees to become inebriated as part of the carousing experience, particularly in the evenings. In order to retain legitimacy of surveys, patrons who were thought to be inebriated were not approached and responses were not collected during evening hours. In order to reach the response goal of 200 participants per festival, a research assistant was hired and trained to aid in administering the surveys. All survey and interview questions were approved by the Thompson Rivers University's Research Ethics for Human Subjects Board prior to implementation (See Appendix B for survey questions).

#### **RESEARCHER POSITIONALITY**

A number of factors influenced my role as a researcher within this project that are pertinent to understanding why I chose this topic as well as how the research questions and methodology was developed. I have been an avid festival goer and volunteer for several years. As a result, I have an understanding of the many motivations that festival participants have to attend music festivals and a stakeholder's investment in their success. I began the Bachelor of Tourism Management degree in 2012 and graduated with a concentration in festivals and events in 2016. This education provided me with a strong background on festival and event literature, current industry standards, and theoretical models to understand events. Previous to beginning a Masters in Environmental Science, I worked as the Volunteer Coordinator for the Roots and Blues Music Festival. In this position I managed the recruitment and organization of volunteers and supervised numerous crews, including the environmental team. The Volunteer Coordinator is also a position whose role is interconnected with all other festival departments, filling requests for volunteers and providing additional support when possible. It was through this position that I gained firsthand insight into the restrictions, barriers, and complications faced by different departments. I have known festivals as a participant, a volunteer and a student, however, it was the

difficulties and struggles that I faced as an employee that led to my personal drive to gain a clearer understanding of what practices are available and what other festivals are doing, or not doing, to implement environmental change. My graduate research allowed me to address these issues in a more rigorous way, in an academic format with the direct aid of festival management. Through the program I was able to adjust my thought process from the strictly social science perspective gained through my undergrad work, and expand it to include new critical ways of thinking. This was imperative for the proper implementation of the methods and methodology. My background as an industry professional was also a main asset in establishing empathy and gaining the trust of festival managers and willingness to participate in the study. My ability to speak their jargon, communicate shared values, be up-to-date on current issues, and demonstrate a shared investment in the festival industry, beyond that of just a researcher, was crucial to create a relationship of open and in-depth dialogue. This background, along with consistent transparency, was a key component for managers to understand my intentions with this project, and allow me to conduct surveys with patrons on festival grounds. Additionally, my positionality within this research aided in my communication with festival attendees, which resulted in a large number of survey respondents. More simply, I was comfortable with them and they were comfortable with me. While the contextualized aspects of my positionality such as my personal, academic, and industry background were seen as positive when conversing with this festival community, I do not believe that the fixed aspects such as my gender, race, and age posed any advantages or challenges. As a researcher, I have attempted to utilize my background and previous experiences to accurately interpret and present the opinions and knowledge of the festival managers. As a result, the findings in this study are based solely on the opinions and perspectives of my participants, with little reference to my own ideas on these discussions.

#### **OVERVIEW OF THESIS**

This thesis is divided into two distinct papers. The first, Chapter Two, outlines the current environmental practices of British Columbia's music festival industry and analyzes the barriers and incentives to deepening those practices from festival organizer perspectives. The aim of this paper is to identify the underlying issues that both drive and constrain environmental practices, as well as highlight incentives that have the greatest possibility to

motivate change. Additionally, this research adds British Columbia to a rapidly increasing body of literature as music festivals continue to gain attention globally for their positive and negative implications. The second paper, Chapter Three, uncovers the complexities of stakeholder relationships in the B.C. music festival industry through a combination of interviews with festival management and survey responses from festival attendees. This paper utilizes patron perspectives with regard to festival sustainability, an approach that is conspicuously absent from the existing literature, to showcase the need for environmental practices and draw connections between patron views and festival values. There is a specific focus on the importance of including environmentally sustainable practices within stakeholder management strategies. The patron perspective is also highlighted as a key leverage point for generating positive change in the industry. In the final chapter, or conclusion, the unique platform of festivals and their potential to become a leader in sustainable practices is discussed. Moreover, the importance to not undermine the implications or significance based on the scale of an event is addressed, as is clearly illustrated throughout this research.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Ablah, E., Brown J., Carroll, B. & Bronleewe, T. (2016). A community-based participatory research approach to identifying environmental concerns. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 79(5), 14-19.
- Andersson, T. D., & Getz, D. (2008). Stakeholder Management Strategies of Festivals. Journal of Convention & Event Tourism, 9(3), 199-220.
- Andersson, T. D. & Getz, D. (2009). Tourism as a mixed industry: Differences between private, public and not-for-profit festivals. *Tourism Management*, 30(6), 847-856.
- Barber, N. A., Kim, Y. H., & Barth, S. (2014). The importance of recycling to U.S. festival visitors: A preliminary study. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 23(6), 601-625.
- Blesic, I., Pivac, T., Stamenkovic, I., Besermenji, S., & Markovic, S. (2014). Investigation of visitor motivation of the exit music festival (the republic of Serbia). *Revista De Turism Studii Si Cercetari in Turism*, (18), 8-15.
- Carroll, A. B. (1991). The pyramid of corporate social responsibility: Toward the moral management of organizational stakeholders. *Business Horizons*, *34*(4), 39-48.
- Clarkson, M. (1995). A stakeholder framework for analyzing and evaluating corporate social performance. *Academy of Management Review*, 20, 92-117.
- Collins, A., & Cooper, C., (2017). Measuring and managing the environmental impact of festivals: The contribution of the ecological footprint. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 25(1), 148-162.
- Cossío-Silva, F., Revilla-Camacho, M., Vega-Vázquez, M., & Palacios-Florencio, B. (2016). Value co-creation and customer loyalty. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(5), 1621-1625.
- Crompton, J. L., & McKay, S. L. (1997). Motives of visitors attending festival events. *Annals* of tourism research, 24(2), 425-439.
- Daley, C. M., James, A. S., Ulrey, E., Joseph, S., Talawyma, A., Choi, W. S., Greiner, K. A., & Coe, M. K. (2010). Using focus groups in community-based participatory research: Challenges and resolutions. *Qualitative Health Research*, 20(5), 697-706.

- Davis, A. (2016). Experiential places or places of experience? place identity and place attachment as mechanisms for creating festival environment. *Tourism Management*, 55, 49-61.
- Dutta, T., Kim, K., Uchimiya, M., Kumar, P., Das, S., Bhattacharya, S. S., & Szulejko, J. (2016). Review article: The micro-environmental impact of volatile organic compound emissions from large-scale assemblies of people in a confined space. *Environmental Research*, 151, 304-312.
- Formica, S., & Uysal, M. (1998). Market segmentation of an international cultural-historical event in Italy. *Journal of Travel Research*, *36*, 16-24.
- Frerichs, L., Lich, K. H., Dave, G., & Corbie-Smith, G. (2016). Integrating systems science and community-based participatory research to achieve health equity. *American Journal of Public Health*, 106(2), 215-222.
- Getz, D. (1991). *Festivals, special events, and tourism*. New York, NY: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Getz, D. (2005). *Event management and event tourism*. New York, NY: Cognizant Communication Corp.
- Getz, D. (2013). Event tourism: Concepts, international case studies, and research. New York, NY: Cognizant Communication Corp.
- Getz, D., & Andersson, T. D. (2008). Sustainable festivals: On becoming an institution. *Event Management*, 12(1), 1-17.
- Getz, D., Andersson, T., & Larson, M. (2007). Festival stakeholder roles: Concepts and case studies. *Event Management*, *10*(2/3), 103-122.
- Getz, D., & Page, S. J. (2016). Progress and prospects for event tourism research. *Tourism Management*, 52, 593-631.
- Gursoy, D., Kim, K., & Uysal, M. (2004). Perceived impacts of festivals and special events by organizers: An extension and validation. *Tourism Management*, 25, 171-182.
- Hede, A. M. (2007). Managing special events in the new era of the triple bottom line. *Event Management*, 11(1-2), 13-22.

- Horng, J., Hu, M., Teng, C., Hsiao, H., Tsai, C., & Liu, C. (2014). How the introduction of concepts of energy saving and carbon reduction (ESCR) can affect festival visitors' behavioural intentions: An investigation using a structural model. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism* 22(8), 1216-1235.
- Huang, C., Lee, C., Yeh, J. C., & Hsiao, J. P. (2014). Estimating congestion costs and segmenting motivations for recreational festivals. *Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research*, 19(5), 558-578.
- Hudson, S., Roth, M. S., Madden, T. J., & Hudson, R. (2015). The effects of social media on emotions, brand relationship quality, and word of mouth: An empirical study of music festival attendees. *Tourism Management*, 47, 68-76.
- Israel, B. A., Eng, E., Schulz, A. J., & Parker, E. A. (2005). *Introduction to methods in community-based participatory research for health*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Jawahar, I., & McLaughlin, G. (2001). Toward a descriptive stakeholder theory: An organizational life cycle approach. *Academy of Management Review*, 26, 397-414.
- Karlsen, S. & Nordstrom, C. S. (2008). Festivals in the Barents region: Presuppositions for building and maintaining stakeholder relationships. *Nordic Symposium in Tourism and Hospitality Research*.
- Laing, J., & Frost, W. (2010). How green was my festival: Exploring challenges and opportunities associated with staging green events. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29(2), 261-267.
- Laing, J., & Mair, J. (2015). Music festivals and social inclusion the festival organizers perspective. *Leisure Sciences*, *37*(3), 252-268.
- Lee, Y. (2016). Research note: Impact of government policy and environment quality on visitor loyalty to Taiwan music festivals: Moderating effects of revisit reason and occupation type. *Tourism Management*, 53, 187-196.
- Lee, Y., Liu, T. Chung, F. & Ho, H. (2015). Investigating the role of government policy and the environment on locals' loyalty to spring music festivals. *Contemporary Management Research*, 11(1), 35.
- Leenders, M. M. (2010). The relative importance of the brand of music festivals: A customer equity perspective. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 18(4), 291-301.

- Leung, M. W., Yen, I. H., & Minkler, M. (2004). Community-based participatory research: A promising approach for increasing epidemiology's relevance in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 33(3), 499-506.
- Li, G., Yang, X., Liu, Q., & Zheng, F. (2014). Destination island effects: A theoretical framework for the environmental impact assessment of human tourism activities. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, *10*, 11-18.
- Luonila, M., & Johansson, T. (2016). Reasons for networking in institutionalized music productions: Case studies of an opera house and a music festival. *International Journal* of Arts Management, 18(3), 50-56.
- Mair, J., & Jago, L. (2010). The development of a conceptual model of greening in the business events tourism sector. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 18* (1), 77-94.
- Mair, J., & Laing, J. (2012). The greening of music festivals: Motivations, barriers and outcomes. applying the Mair and Jago model. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 20(5), 683-700.
- Meynhardt, T., Chandler, J. D., & Strathoff, P. (2016). Systemic principles of value cocreation: Synergetics of value and service ecosystems. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(8), 2981-2989.
- Mitchell, R., Agle, B., & Wood, D. (1997). Towards a theory of stakeholder identification and salience: Defining the principle of who and what really counts. *Academy of Management Review*, 22(4), 853-886.
- Mohr, K., Backman, K. F., Gahan, L. W., & Backman, S. J. (1993). An investigation of festival motivations and event satisfaction by visitor type. *Festival Management and Event Tourism*, 1(3), 89-97.
- Morgan, M. (2008). What makes a good festival? Understanding the event experience. *Event Management*, *12*(2), 81-93.
- Mossberg, L., & Getz, D. (2006). Stakeholder influences on the ownership and management of festival brands. *Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism*, 6(4), 308-326.
- Nelson, R., Ström, P., & Bjälesjö, J. (2011). Divergent paths in regional economic development: A tale of two festival towns. *Small Cities Imprint*, *3*(1), 86-104.

- O'Fallon, L. R., & Dearry, A. (2002). Community-based participatory research as a tool to advance environmental health sciences. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110(2), 155-159.
- O'Rourke, S., Irwin, D., & Straker, J. (2011). Dancing to sustainable tunes: An exploration of music festivals and sustainable practices in Aotearoa. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 14(4), 341-354.
- Pegg, S., & Patterson, I. (2010). Rethinking music festivals as a staged event: Gaining insights from understanding visitor motivations and the experiences they seek. *Journal* of Convention & Event Tourism, 11(2), 85-99.
- Pera, R., Occhiocupo, N., & Clarke, J. (2016). Motives and resources for value co-creation in a multi-stakeholder ecosystem: A managerial perspective. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(10), 4033-4041.
- Pernecky, T. (2015). Sustainable leadership in event management. *Event Management*, 19(1), 109-121.
- Quinn, B. (2006). Problematising 'festival tourism': Arts festivals and sustainable development in Ireland. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 14(3), 288.
- Richards, G. (Ed.). (2007). *Cultural tourism: Global and local perspectives*. New York, NY: Haworth.
- Richardson, J., & Henriques, A. (2004). *The Triple Bottom Line: Does It All Add Up*. London: Routledge.
- Saleh, F., & Ryan, C. (1993). Jazz and knitwear: Factors that attract tourists to festivals. *Tourism Management, 14,* 289-297.
- Song, Z., Xing, L., & Chathoth, P. K. (2015). The effects of festival impacts on support intentions based on residents' ratings of festival performance and satisfaction: A new integrative approach. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 23(2), 316-337.
- Stone, C. (2008). The British pop music festival phenomenon. In J. Ali-Knight, M. Robertson, A. Fyall, & A. Ladkin (Eds.). *International perspectives of festivals and events: Paradigms of analysis* (p. 205-224). London, England: Elsevier.
- Taylor, S. J., Bogdan, R., & DeVault, M. L. (2015). *Introduction to qualitative research methods: A guidebook and resource*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated.

- Todd, L., Leask, A., & Ensor, J. (2017). Understanding primary stakeholders' multiple roles in hallmark event tourism management. *Tourism Management*, *59*, 494-509.
- ToDoCanada. (2018, April 4). *Summer music festivals in British Columbia*. Retrieved from https://www.todocanada.ca/summer-music-festivals-british-columbia/.
- Toniolo, S., Mazzi, A., Fedele, A., Aguiari, F., & Scipioni, A. (2017). Life cycle assessment to support the quantification of the environmental impacts of an event. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 63, 12-22.
- Townsend, C. K., Dillard, A., Hosoda, K. K., Maskarinec, G. G., Maunakea, A. K., Yoshimura, S. R., ...& Kaholokula, J. K. A. (2016). Community-based participatory research integrates behavioral and biological research to achieve health equity for Native Hawaiins. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(1), 4-14.
- TOTA. (2017). *Thompson Okanagan tourism association*. Retrieved from https://totabc.org/resources/maps.
- Tronstad, T. V., & Gelderblom, F. B. (2016). Sound exposure during outdoor music festivals. *Noise & Health*, *18*(83), 220-228.
- Turkulainen, V., Aaltonen, K., & Lohikoski, P. (2016). Managing project stakeholder communication: The QStock festival case. *Project Management Journal*, 46(6), 74-91.
- Vestrum, I. (2014). The embedding process of community ventures: Creating a music festival in a rural community. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 26(7/8), 619-644.
- Wong, I. A., Wan, Y. P., & Qi, S. (2015). Green events, value perceptions, and the role of consumer involvement in festival design and performance. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 23(2), 294-315.
- Yolal, M., Gursoy, D., Uysal, M., Kim, H., & Karacaoğlu, S. (2016). Impacts of festivals and events on residents' well-being. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 61, 1-18.

## Chapter Two.

## Creating New Incentives Through Environmental Literacy

A green event can be understood as one that incorporates sustainable policies and practices into its management and operations (Laing & Frost, 2010). Our Common Future (1987) of the Brundtland Commission, formerly known as the World Commission on Environment and Development, defines sustainability as: "development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (n.p.). This has since become one of the most widely adopted measurements for sustainability (Cole et al., 2014; Zaman, 2014). Nevertheless, the significant elements of sustainability encompass more than just an environmental approach, but also include economic and social approaches, as commonly reflected in triple bottom line (TBL) (Mitchell et al., 2008). In regards to these three pillars of sustainability, previous research has been largely devoted to the economic and social sustainability in the music festival realm (Martinho et al., 2017; Warnick et al., 2017; Yolal et al., 2016). Existing studies on the environmental sustainability of events have gauged practices through ecological and carbon footprints (Collins & Cooper, 2017; Gossling et al., 2011), measuring environmental emissions (Dutta et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2014), and conducting environmental impact assessments (Ahmed et al., 2008; Toniolo et al., 2017). While informative, pinpointing these issues does not motivate, or help managers, to eliminate or mitigate their environmental impacts, as many of them are well aware of the negative impacts associated with their event. More recently, studies have been conducted that examine the barriers and incentives for greening events (Laing & Frost, 2010; Mair & Jago, 2010). Yet, the current level of knowledge and understanding of the challenges associated with staging a green festival is still insufficient. More knowledge is required of the qualitative characteristics of environmental impacts, particularly in understudied regions, in order to improve the planning of green festivals (Cierjacks et al., 2012; Andersson & Getz, 2009). This chapter aims to provide insight into the environmental practices applied to music festivals in B.C., as well as provide a qualitative review of the barriers and opportunities for management with regard to greening their events. This research explores the environmental practices at three music festivals within the interior of B.C., and identifies and analyzes their barriers and incentives

by speaking directly with management. Findings from this work demonstrate that understanding the barriers and incentives to change is imperative to implement environmental practices at music festivals.

#### CURRENT ENVIRONMENTAL PRACTICES AT MUSIC FESTIVALS

The growing concern, and resulting pressure, for festivals to become eco-friendly is recognized by many scholars, with studies urging for further research in new regions (Laing & Frost, 2010; Hottle et al., 2015; Martinho et al., 2017). Negative impacts have been studied extensively. Environmental impact assessments and ecological footprints outline the consequences of music festivals on the environment, particularly in resource demands, air pollution, general and food waste, water usage, and energy consumption (Collins & Cooper, 2017; Dávid, 2009; Zelenika et al., 2018). Litter accumulation and visitor trampling has also led to water and environment contamination, causing direct suffering to animal habitats and vegetation with expected long-term negative consequences (Cierjacks et al., 2012). Specific calculations of waste and damage are difficult to measure due to the short timeframe of festivals, thus continuous research is imperative given the large size of the industry and its potential to negatively affect communities and local or regional environments (Gibson & Wong, 2011; Martinho et al., 2017). Developing an understanding of the current practices of different festivals in other regions will close gaps in knowledge and highlight the issues being faced across a variety of events by management. Bass Coast, Rockin' River, and Roots and Blues are all festivals within the interior of British Columbia, an understudied region and a popular destination for festival goers because of local landscapes such as mountain vistas, the consistent warm weather, highway vicinity and the vast genre options. While many festivals incorporate similar practices, it was clear through observation and interviews that each festival in this study operates at different levels of sustainability. The planning, execution, and end results also vary.

The first festival, Bass Coast, has made environmentalism a core value of their organization and invests in a paid position of green team manager. This position revolves around working with a team of volunteers to create, execute, and follow up with greening initiatives before, during, and after the festival. These initiatives range from clear labelling and practical placement of large bins for consumers to dispose of "Waste", "Recycling" and

"Refundables", to safely moving bird nests from staging areas to prevent accidental death of wildlife. All sales of plastic water bottles, including that of food and beverage vendors, has been banned on site and instead there are numerous locations where potable water is sourced from a nearby spring is available to refill patrons own re-usable bottles. In an effort to reduce impact on the local environment, volunteers and security watch for behavior that is detrimental to wildlife habitat, such as river bathing. Carpooling is encouraged through social media outlets to reduce gas emissions, and the site uses eco-diesel generators when possible. Although there is a green team manager, the environmental efforts are group oriented. All staff members contribute to green efforts where possible, such as infrastructure crews making use of nearby bridge remains to create stages instead of purchasing new lumber.

The second festival, Roots and Blues, also includes a waste and recycling program for consumer use, but relies on the colours of the bins and garbage bags to inform the consumer of the difference between waste and recycling. There is no paid position that focuses solely on the environmental programs, but instead the festival makes a donation to a local community group in exchange for their work as a volunteer environment crew, collecting garbage and recycling throughout the festival grounds and campgrounds during open hours. The festival commonly re-uses supplies, props, and décor from previous years and has multiple potable water stations across the festival grounds. The sale of plastic water bottles is not forbidden, however, the festival itself does not sell any from their on-site merchandise stores and encourages patrons to bring their own reusable bottles. In regards to noise pollution and disturbance, the festival has a midnight noise curfew enforced through municipal by-law and licensing.

The last festival, Rockin' River, has the most relaxed regulations around environmental practices. There is no clear labelling on garbage and recycling bins, though a group of paid staff collect and sort through bins behind the scenes to ensure recycling and waste are properly sorted. There is only one water refill station and it is not located on festival maps. The sale of water bottles is common, and one company has exclusivity over brand sales with their own tent set up as well. The organization has partnered with B.C. Fisheries for advice and help with keeping wildlife and habitat protected from damage, and volunteers are present during festival hours to deter patrons from any activity that may be considered harmful. The ultimate goal for each festival regarding environmental sustainability is to leave the grounds in better condition than they were found when they arrived. To accomplish this, all have post-teardown clean ups, where staff or volunteers pick up any left-over garbage from cigarettes to food wrapping. Two of the festivals employ a grid-style method, sectioning off festival grounds into squares and assigning them to either volunteers, staff, or community groups to keep tasking organized. The current practices at these festivals are basic, and other than a "leave no trace" attitude, there are no regulated industry standards of practice among them. There is a clear issue regarding lack of clarity around expectations and regulation, both in the industry and legislation. Currently, the festivals face little policing from municipalities, as described by David Gonella (2017), the Roots and Blues festival manager:

Well, grey water - you always have to have permits for grey water. Grey water goes into the system, and it's temporary, there's a lot of permits. Otherwise, no. The city is more in tune to encroachments to the surrounding communities and their noise by-laws rights. We do that here for sure. The only other thing that the municipality would be involved in is the beer gardens or any alcohol serving gardens. They would want to be involved with that.

Adding to this discussion, Andrea Graham (2017), the Bass Coast manager, described the reasoning behind lack of standard regulations:

It seems like from my experience that each district has its own requirements for a special event's permit and I think that they are starting to be more directed by government policies but they are not the same yet from district to district. The whole process is not the same even for applying from district to district. And then there is also a difference between doing an event within a city limit versus outside the boundary, because then you apply to different organizations or panels and so ours doesn't have like a hard list. More what it is, is we submit our plan and then there is a discussion around that.

There is no immediate pressure for festival management to make environmentally conscience decisions throughout their festival planning. Municipalities are more concerned with how a festival will affect or disturb businesses and homeowners rather than the production of waste or the environmental impact. The responsibility is in the hands of the organizers to make these decisions for their own reasons, and falls to patrons to follow through when possible. With this open concept of environmentalism in the industry,
managers are unsure about how to analyze their practices or fully understand how to best reduce their impact (Laing & Frost, 2010). With a focus on transportation, waste, and energy, current literature suggests areas of improvement for festival managers (Getz, 1997; Van der Wagen, 2007). For example, these recommendations include carpooling programs, bicycles and energy saving vehicles for on-site transportation, volunteers stationed at waste bins, food composting, compostable toilets, eco-friendly staging equipment, and outsourcing companies for help (Horng et al., 2014; Laing & Frost, 2010; Zelenika et al., 2018). However, even with evidence supported by research and access to online guidance tools provided by companies such as Green Festivals (2015) and the International Organization for Standardization (2012), these suggested practices are not fully utilized (O'Rourke et al., 2011).

## UNDERSTANDING THE BARRIERS TO CHANGE: THE INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL CONFLICTS OF ENVIRONMENTALISM

Successful environmental practices within music festivals begin during the planning stages, months before the festival commences. Festival management have an increased awareness of the need to implement environmental changes; however, research has shown that there is often a disconnect between management intentions and the festival operations (Henderson, 2007; Laing & Frost, 2010). This is largely due to the numerous barriers faced by festival management on internal and external levels. Internal struggles have been identified as financial difficulties without full understanding on how to best reduce negative impacts. External levels often arise because of issues linked to time and lack of control over venues or suppliers (Laing & Frost, 2010; Mair & Laing, 2012; Zelenika et al., 2018).

The music festivals in this study endure similar barriers and management is left with tough decisions between financial and environmental sustainability. Festivals generally run low profit margins (Hesmondhalgh, 2007; Waddell, 2013), and managers indicate the difficulty this puts on new financial ventures. Staffing also becomes an issue for many festivals with only a small number of year-round employees working for the event. For festival manager Gonella, from Roots and Blues, the initial investment of a new program or product was not the main barrier. Rather, he felt that the human resource cost was more prohibitive. At Roots and Blues, having one employee create, execute, and monitor programs to ensure it runs smoothly is too expensive:

I mean we are always limited by finances for how much investment we can make in human resource (Gonella, 2017).

He explains further:

The only cost is really HR and initial investment to having to distribute the garbage from user to facility. How is that distributed, right? So that means extra cans, the equipment involved, that is where the investment is. A lot of time that is a one time with a minimal amount each year to keep it up kind of thing. So... that would be the kind of enterprise. But we would need someone who just comes in... we need one person who is just focused on *that*. And that would help us (Gonella, 2017).

This human resource issue appears to be a unique barrier faced by a not-for-profit festival as the other festivals incorporate either a green team manager or external paid staff that focus on environmental practices. Every festival did express concern over financial constraints in some capacity. The Bass Coast festival manager shares that the programs that have the potential to make a greater impact are too costly or unavailable:

I don't know if there is anything that pops out as one major challenge other than the fact that the cost of new technology is prohibitive. Like more solar panels and batteries and things that could help reduce our reliance on gasoline for power are still mostly too expensive (Graham, 2017).

Undoubtedly, resources and suppliers are limited, particularly in small towns and rural areas. The nature of these small towns in combination with the large occupancy of the festival makes it difficult to find resources that are locally sourced and can accommodate the high volume needed. As Gonella notes:

Absolutely. You would be hit on the head for a small town. Would we have a ginormous trucking company that gives four reefers? No. Right. Are we going to have our radios... a place that rents radios... that have a thousand of their stock so they can give us 100 every year? No we are not. You know it just becomes the scale (Gonella, 2017).

The lack of resources is also an issue when seeking environmentally conscious partners or suppliers that are available and affordable. As stated by Graham (2017):

In general... because of the difference in the US dollar it is never feasible to rent or have an American supplier. Whether it is for sound or power or anything. Which is

fine because we want to support the local economy...but it just means we don't have that available up here yet.

These financial constraints indicate that decisions around suppliers cannot always be based on personal values, such as a need for environmentalism. Environmental practices are still business decisions that must fit within the festival's budget. The dependency on stakeholders for supplies is not always necessarily a negative factor. Andersson & Getz (2008) noticed that as festivals become more established, mutual dependencies with suppliers are developed. This means that stakeholders also become committed to the event, which is positive for the sustainability of the festival. The difficulty is securing a supplier that fits within the business decisions and also offers technology that is eco-friendly. Graham (2017) discussed how suppliers, when she has funds for improvement, do not offer technology that is eco-friendly:

And the external suppliers and partners in those areas... we don't have a lot of opportunity to choose one that is better for the environment. You know for example a sound company. That is just not part of the equation.

There are plenty of challenges that hinder options of environmental sustainability for management. However, with programs that are possible, the challenge then becomes execution and ensuring that the programs are effective. With the initial start-up costs and risk of losing money on a new project, it is critical that implementation is perfect:

We are sort of who we are because of how much we afford. Right, we cannot just throw money at problems. So we tend to look at the triangle of time, quality, and cash. We tend to do time and quality—focus on those two. Because we always have limited amounts of money (Gonella, 2017).

There are existing companies that can be hired for their expertise in environmental management, but these again are not feasible due to high costs:

We had a couple companies a couple years ago, that were specialized businesses ask if they could take care of that aspect of our business (*environmentalism*), but they were just too costly to permit it (Gonella, 2017).

Control over patrons was another common theme among festival management. Without a dedicated employee, there is not always continued oversight during the festival, and managers have to trust that volunteers will follow through on environmental practices.

Yeah we rely on patrons... that's why we're trying to work out our signage for them. And we rely on the dragon boat team that runs the environment volunteer committee. Yeah we don't have a... there's no maestro.

There is the expectation from patrons for management to provide a level of cleanliness and services for attendees, such as bins for waste disposal, but sustaining environmental practices can only be successful if there is awareness and participation from the attendees. In the same way that management has little pressure on them to be environmentally conscious, the festivals only expect minimal green behavior from their patrons, particularly in shorter, local festivals. As described by the Bass Coast manager:

Festivals that are two and three days out elsewhere... people do not do all the research you need because you don't have to. You can just show up. And so... we did not know that we would be able to just not have garbage or recycling and assume that people would do what they are supposed to do (Graham, 2017).

While Graham makes it clear she is speaking only about her Bass Coast experience, her quote is borne out anecdotally by my specific research on this paper plus my long time experience as a festival participant. Control over patron behavior has been previously identified as a source of conflict in music festival environmentalism by Mair and Laing (2012). The organizers in the study stressed the need to overcome this through education and awareness. This challenge was reiterated by the Bass Coast green team manager:

I would say people not being aware of what we are trying to do is the biggest challenge because then they cannot participate. So communicating is huge. Like communicating what we are trying to do, what our programs are, and providing ways for people to engage with us at the festival is the most important thing we can do to ensure success of our problems and protecting the environment at Bass Coast (M. Yasel, phone communication, December 2, 2017).

Even through strong communication, festival managers still run into issues throughout the festival over patron behavior and community resentment:

There are always challenges. Like I said, we have people that you know... they are not malicious, they are not mean, they are not miserable for the sake of being miserable... but you can tell them five times please do not build a rock bed (*in the river*) and they will still build that rock bed (*causing spawning issues for the salmon*).

And then inevitably somebody comes along and takes a picture of it... sends it to fisheries and says "Well you've got this festival here" you know, so we have run into that (Dean, 2017).

Dean refers to people not purposely trying to create issues within the festival, but not fully understanding the consequences of their actions. Festivals have the potential to educate and increase public awareness, providing new avenues for advertising initiatives and approaches (Barber et al., 2014; Wong et al., 2015).

The operational challenges of environmentalism within music festivals are not impossible to overcome, but do pose many risks. Spending more money may mean having to raise the price of ticket sales. Remaining loyal and fair to the attendees was emphasized by all three managers. The incentives must be great enough to convince management that it will not impact their ability to continue in the future. As described by Graham (2017):

I think that is having to be careful on the financial side. There are so many things that we really do want to do. So I guess when you were asking earlier if there are barriers... that would be a barrier. Because as much as we do owe it to our attendees to eventually offer something like that... if we go too early the cost could impact our ability to continue.

Many of the barriers seem to circle back to financial issues. Waste left behind by patrons has also been noted to contribute both to obstacles faced by organizers to maintain a green festival and costs of waste disposal.

The present challenges of creating sustainable music festivals are intimidating to tackle, but adding to this is the confusion around responsibility. There are arguments circling who to blame for environmental impacts. While Stone (2008) believes that the general atmosphere of partying present at outdoor music festivals is not conducive to encouraging environmental behavior in patrons, Gunn (1994) challenges this notion by insisting environmental damage is caused by lack of plans, policies, and actions of festival organizers. This research supports that of Getz (2005), who suggests that communication with attendees around environmentalism is important to the success of sustainability, implying that the environmentalism begins with managers who must set up programs that are easily accessible and falls to volunteers and patrons to manage and participate during the festival. It is

necessary to seek out incentives for change to better understand how to begin the process to overcome existing barriers and improve sustainable behavior.

#### **INCENTIVES TO CHANGE: AWARENESS AND SHIFTING VALUES**

The barriers and challenges to making the shift towards a more environmentally sustainable future are not impossible to overcome. The knowledge has been developed and documented by academics and industry professionals (Laing & Frost, 2010), and while many festivals struggle to meet the basic standards of environmental stewardship, others are earning awards for their greening efforts (Mair & Laing, 2012). The question remains: what are the differences between these events, and why are the festivals in this study not performing similarly? There is a need to understand what is missing from the current incentives for management include potential financial savings, competitive marketing, preservation and protection of property, and personal values. Ironically, the largest barrier identified in this study is the lack of incentive for management to change.

The festivals in this study have a strong understanding of their economic sustainability gleaned from years of operating experience and strategic partnering. However, because profit margins still remain low, with one festival even operating at a loss for the past three years, management must be able to see a monetary incentive when investing in environmental programs. Despite some promising research regarding economic gain for festivals that invest and follow through with environmental programs (Jenkins, 2006; Lee, 2016; Tzschentke et al., 2004), the actual numeric gain is unclear, and this financial risk is deterring managers from making new commitments. As explained by Gonella (2017):

Because you need to know it has economic gain, for us. Like for most enterprises to take stuff on they have to have a financial benefit. Right? I mean they can invest but they have to at some point start seeing it (*a financial return*).

Nonetheless, attention continues to grow worldwide for environmentalism, and the festival industry is coming under more scrutiny as research shines a light on their impacts. Environmental operations then have a growing appeal because of their potential to create marketing advantages and provide a competitive edge. I think there is inherent benefits in doing this. It could also be the publicity from it. The branding improvement with people just thinking that we are more associated with this stuff. Yeah so there is a lot to gain (Gonella, 2017).

Staying competitive within the festival market is another potential reason for management to begin to make a change. Consumer demand has been identified in a previous study as an environmental driver (Mair & Laing, 2012), and although all three festivals expressed that their consumers exert the strongest influence over decisions in general, one manager pointed out that currently they are not seeing a demand for environmental causes:

Sustainability... no I think it is one of those things that people do not pay attention to, for one. As much as they say they do. Unless we advertise the heck out of it. They are just going to the stages most of the time. Most people just go to the stages, going to meet their friends, and enjoying themselves. They're not worried about how the garbage is separated. They are just not. Unless there is a pile that is gross and wasps everywhere. Then if you ask them they are going to be concerned about sustainability (Gonella, 2017).

On the other hand, the Bass Coast festival manager found her patrons are indeed the main driver of environmentalism within her event:

I mean my first instinct is to say the attendees are key stakeholders. And not only are they the ones who are making Bass Coast financially sustainable, but they are also driving our quest to be more environmental (Graham, 2017).

This was reiterated by the green team leader of the festival:

I mean I think it is just a testament to the kind of people we draw to Bass Coast. People who are advocates and feel strongly about community and environment and inclusivity (Yasel, 2017).

Arguably, the feelings of the patrons often reflect those of management or festival values and the demand from patrons for an environmentally conscious festival could easily be a result from the festival itself. The belief in environmentalism as a manager allows Graham (2017) to look past risks, such as losing money from a sponsorship deal that deters from environmental values:

Some companies could look at it like a missed opportunity. But to us, the opportunity is in not making that waste.

Along these same lines, preservation and protection of land is one of the more powerful influences forcing management to ensure cleanliness, as they begin to risk their land if they do not clean up properly. The Rockin' River manager described this risk, but was quick to include that while a driving force, it was not the *only* reason:

Well even in the years that we have lost money we have made sure that we did it because losing a little bit now is a lot better than losing the festival because you did not care about mother nature. Because that will shut you down in a hurry. And it is not just because it will shut us down but heck I am a fisherman... I want my fish back! (Dean, 2017).

As the above quote illustrates, the personal values of some managers stand out as the strongest motivator in environmental stewardship. Research by Mair and Laing (2012) is one of the few studies that extensively researches the drivers to environmental sustainability in a festival context. The findings stress the importance of staff stewardship as environmental champions and claim this was the source of the greatest influence in the green award-winning festivals studied. For the management within this study who are not currently engaged in strong environmental practices, they note that until they are able to properly incorporate practices, it will not be worth taking the risk as implementation would remain too difficult. Gonella explains the potential as well as his hesitation to implement new environmental programs:

I think there is lots to gain from it. It is just implementing in a way that does not seem like we are just doing it to make people look like were doing it. But actually we are doing it because we are really doing it well. I want to just do it well. So we have not found that level yet. We still separate cans, we still separate cardboard. I mean the bulk stuff we are still separating. There is another layer that we could be achieving but right now we have not really set the plan to make it seem that it is an operational decision. I do not want to just make it a marketing decision. A lot of times people just want to do it... and you can tell... they just want to do it because it sounds good to them. But if you do that and do not fulfill it in a real operational way it will look like what it is... which is just like a plastic veneer that you are just putting on. It is not real. So for us I want to have more integrity with this than just to do it. I will not do it until we can do it really well (Gonella, 2017).

This research demonstrates how personal values of management can play a role in environmental decisions. Yet, as strongly as a festival manager may feel about environmental responsibility, there is a financial risk associated with it and managers do not always have the authority or mandate to put the financial viability of their festival on the line. Andersson and Bateman (2000) suggest that single individuals working in the operating cores of organizations are often capable of formulating and promoting environmental innovation. Hemingway and Maclagan (2004) believe that the agent of change does not necessarily need to be from senior management, but that middle management within an organization is capable of incorporating the need for social responsibility. In effect, when considering the implementation of environmental measures, festival managers behave like business managers. Often this means doing a formal or informal cost-benefit analysis and determining that the expected return on investment is not enough to offset the perceived risk. Another manager might conduct the same analysis through their personal environmental lens and see the risks as quite manageable, concluding that the benefits outweigh any financial risks. The challenge then, may be in getting more managers to see a path for realizing the full benefits of enhanced environmental programming. Increased environmental literacy is one obvious step worth exploring.

## CONCLUSION

There is an increasing awareness, and resultant demand, within society for better environmental practices (Jabbour & Santos, 2008; Lubin & Esty, 2010). At the same time, there is also a global increase in the generation of waste (Hershkowitz, 1998; Hoornweg et al., 2013). It is evident from existing literature that music festivals are waste generators, but impacts are not limited to waste. Pollution, damage to local environments, and negative experiences for host communities have also been identified as major concerns. Waste left behind from patrons is singled out in a previous study as the most significant environmental concern (Collins et al., 2007) and identified as a large barrier faced by management in terms of environmental practices. Ecological and carbon footprints, emissions, and environmental impact assessments have enlightened the research community and public about the true impact of music festival. In terms of practical application for event organizers, the assessments have been labelled as not much more than an attention-grabbing tool for environmentalists that fail to provide management with useful information on how to improve. The few studies that do provide suggestions are not commonly incorporated into festival practices. This leaves a need for the practical "how-to" guides that will bridge the gap between research and practice.

This chapter was able to provide insight into the current practices in British Columbia, revealing that sustainability initiatives vary widely, partially due to the lack of regulation from municipalities or a clear industry standard. A disconnect between management intention and operations is created and sustained through both internal and external barriers. Proper implementation is a major concern for management, and even if it were affordable, suppliers committed to making it happen are difficult to come by. By gaining a stronger understanding of the greening process, we can recognize where rooted issues lay and make lighter work of the task of creating incentives for management. Internal stewardship appears to have the strongest potential for management to take on the task of overcoming environmental challenges, but as indicated these internal decisions are often based on personal values.

As the growth of special events increase and people become more aware of the need for environmentally-friendly festivals, the concern for environmental practices extends beyond the research realm. Given the importance of events to attendees and host destinations, and the influence of festivals as economic drivers and producers of regional identities, it is crucial to develop an understanding of the environmental impacts. To move forward sustainably, it is necessary to uncover the challenges and incentives in which festivals function and identify ways to address these. The intention is that this research within British Columbia will be recognized as beneficial for management, highlighting a festival success story and demonstrating how becoming your own champion within environmental stewardship is the first step. Ultimately, the hope is that this evaluation of festivals within British Columbia will provide a new framework for addressing the challenges of greening events and encourage managers to challenge current assumptions and current barriers, as well as commit to becoming their own agents of innovation.

## LITERATURE CITED

- Ahmed, F., Moodley, V., Sookrajh, R. (2008). The environmental impacts of beach sport tourism events: A case study of the Mr. Price Pro surfing event, Durban, South Africa. *Africa Insight*, 38(3), 73-85.
- Andersson, L. M., & Bateman, T. S. (2000). Individual environmental initiative: Championing natural environmental issues in US business organizations. Academy of Management Journal, 43(4), 548-570.
- Andersson, T. D., & Getz, D. (2008). Stakeholder Management Strategies of Festivals. Journal of Convention & Event Tourism, 9(3), 199-220.
- Andersson, T. D. & Getz, D. (2009). Tourism as a mixed industry: Differences between private, public and not-for-profit festivals. *Tourism Management*, 30(6), 847-856.
- Barber, N. A., Kim, Y. H., & Barth, S. (2014). The importance of recycling to U.S. festival visitors: A preliminary study. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 23(6), 601-625.
- Brundtland, G. H. (1987). World commission on environment and development. *Environmental policy and law, 14*(1), 26-30.
- Cierjacks, A., Behr, F., & Kowarik, I. (2012). Operational performance indicators for litter management at festivals in semi-natural landscapes. *Ecological Indicators*, 13, 328-337.
- Cole, C., Osmani, M., Quddus, M., Wheatley, A., & Kay, K. (2014). Towards a zero waste strategy for an English local authority. *Resources, Conservation & Recycling*, 89, 64-75.
- Collins, A., & Cooper, C., (2017). Measuring and managing the environmental impact of festivals: The contribution of the ecological footprint. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 25(1), 148-162.
- Collins, A., Flynn, A., Munday, M., & Roberts, A. (2007). Assessing the environmental consequences of major sporting events: The 2003/04 FA cup final. Urban Studies, 44, 457-476.
- Dávid, L. (2009). Events and tourism: An environmental approach and impact assessment. *Journal of Tourism Challenges and Trends*, 2(2), 101-113.

- Dutta, T., Kim, K., Uchimiya, M., Kumar, P., Das, S., Bhattacharya, S. S., & Szulejko, J. (2016). Review article: The micro-environmental impact of volatile organic compound emissions from large-scale assemblies of people in a confined space. *Environmental Research*, 151, 304-312.
- Getz, D. (1997). *Event management and event tourism*. New York, NY: Cognizant Communication Corp.
- Getz, D. (2005). *Event management and event tourism*. New York, NY: Cognizant Communication Corp.
- Gibson, C., & Wong, C. (2011). Greening rural festivals: Ecology, sustainability and humannature relations. *Festival places: Revitalising rural Australia*, 92-105.
- Gossling, S., Garrod, B., Aall, C., Hile, J., & Peeters, P. (2011). Food management in tourism: Reducing tourism's carbon 'footprint'. *Tourism Management*, *32*, 534-543.
- Gunn, C. A. (1994). *Emergence of effective tourism planning and development*. In A. V. Seaton (Ed.), Tourism: The State of the Art, 10-19. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.
- Green Festivals. (2015). A guide to green festivals. Retrieved from: http://greenfestivals.ca/.
- Hemingway, C. A., & Maclagan, P. W. (2004). Managers' personal values as driers of corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 50(1), 33-44.
- Henderson, J. C. (2007). Corporate social responsibility and tourism: Hotel companies in Phuket, Thailand, after the Indian ocean tsunami. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 26(1), 228-239.

Hershkowitz, A. (1998). In defense of recycling. Social Research, 141-218.

Hesmondhalgh, D. (2007). The cultural industries (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Los Angeles, CA; London: Sage.

Hoornweg, D., Bhada-Tata, P., & Kennedy, C. (2013). Environment: Waste production must peak this century. *Nature News*, *502*(7473), 615.

- Hottle, T.A., Bilec, M.M., Brown, N. R., & Landis, A. E. (2015). Toward zero waste: Composting and recycling for sustainable venue based events. *Waste Management*, 38, 86-94.
- Horng, J., Hu, M., Teng, C., Hsiao, H., Tsai, C., & Liu, C. (2014). How the introduction of concepts of energy saving and carbon reduction (ESCR) can affect festival visitors' behavioural intentions: An investigation using a structural model. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism* 22(8), 1216-1235.
- Huang, C., Lee, C., Yeh, J. C., & Hsiao, J. P. (2014). Estimating congestion costs and segmenting motivations for recreational festivals. *Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research*, 19(5), 558-578.
- International Organization for Standardization. (2012). ISO 20121 Sustainable events. Retrieved from: https://www.iso.org/iso-20121-sustainable-events.html.
- Jabbour, C. J. C., & Santos, F. C. A. (2008). The central role of human resource management in the search for sustainable organizations. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 19(12), 2133-2154.
- Jenkins, H. (2006). Small business champions for corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 67, 241-256.
- Laing, J., & Frost, W. (2010). How green was my festival: Exploring challenges and opportunities associated with staging green events. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29(2), 261-267.
- Lee, Y. (2016). Impact of government policy and environment quality on visitor loyalty to Taiwan music festivals: Moderating effects of revisit season and occupation type. *Tourism Management*, 53, 187-196.
- Lubin, D. A., & Esty, D. C. (2010). The sustainability imperative. *Harvard Business Review*, 88(5), 42-50.
- Mair, J., & Jago, L. (2010). The development of a conceptual model of greening in the business events tourism sector. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 18 (1), 77-94.
- Mair, J., & Laing, J. (2012). The greening of music festivals: Motivations, barriers and outcomes. applying the Mair and Jago model. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 20(5), 683-700.

- Martinho, G., Gomes, A., Ramos, M., Santos, P., Gonçavles, G., Fonseca, M., & Pires, A. (2017). Solid waste prevention and management at green festivals: A case study of the Andanças festival, Portugal. *Waste Management*, 10-18.
- Mitchell, M., Curtis, A., & Davidson, P. (2008). Evaluating the process of triple bottom line reporting: Increasing the potential for change. *Local Environment*, *13*(2), 67-80.
- O'Rourke, S., Irwin, D., & Straker, J. (2011). Dancing to sustainable tunes: An exploration of music festivals and sustainable practices in Aotearoa. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 14(4), 341-354.
- Stone, C. (2008). The British pop music festival phenomenon. In J. Ali-Knight, M. Robertson, A. Fyall, & A. Ladkin (Eds.). *International perspectives of festivals and events: Paradigms of analysis* (p. 205-224). London, England: Elsevier.
- Toniolo, S., Mazzi, A., Fedele, A., Aguiari, F., & Scipioni, A. (2017). Life cycle assessment to support the quantification of the environmental impacts of an event. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 63, 12-22.
- Tzschentke, N., Kirk, D., & Lynch, P. A. (2004). Reasons for going green in serviced accommodation establishments. International *Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 16(2), 116-124.
- Van der Wagen, L. (2007). Event management for tourism, cultural, business, and sporting events. French Forests, NSW: Pearson Education AU.

Waddell, R. (2013). The festival gamble. Billboard, 125(10), 14-15.

- Warnick, R. B., Bojanic, D. C., & Cartier, E. (2017). A comparison of economic impact measurement techniques for a tourism special event. *Journal of Travel Research*, 56(5), 578.
- Wong, I. A., Wan, Y. P., & Qi, S. (2015). Green events, value perceptions, and the role of consumer involvement in festival design and performance. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 23(2), 294-315.
- Yolal, M., Gursoy, D., Uysal, M., Kim, H., & Karacaoğlu, S. (2016). Impacts of festivals and events on residents' well-being. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 61, 1-18.
- Zaman, A. U. (2014). Identification of key assessment indicators of the zero waste management systems. *Ecological Indicators*, *36*, 682-693.

Zelenika, I., Moreau, T., & Zhao, J. (2018). Toward zero waste events: Reducing contamination in waste streams with volunteer assistance. *Waste Management*, (article in press).

## Chapter Three.

## The Role of Stakeholders in Shifting Environmental Practices

Research suggests that festivals have the potential to become effective change agents for environmentalism by delivering strong educational messages to their audience through signage, performances, and interactive sessions (O'Rourke et al., 2011). Despite this, operational barriers such as financial constraints, the lack of suppliers or supplies, and the minimal amount of control over patron behavior are preventing them from becoming leaders in environmental programming. In addition, the personal values of festival managers are considered to be the core motivator in overcoming barriers to environmentalism. However, managers are not the sole decision makers within festival environments. Festivals managers have to answer to hundreds of stakeholders who all hold some form of power. These stakeholders can include a board of directors, sponsorship contracts, or partners due to resource dependency. There is an abundance of literature that focuses on stakeholder relationships of music festivals and how these can best be managed (Andersson & Getz, 2008; Getz & Andersson, 2010; Karlsen & Nordström, 2008; Ooi & Pendersen, 2010; Turkulainen et al., 2016). The main themes of this research are improving economic sustainability by enhancing stakeholder management and urging organizers to create relationships that will foster financial sustainability. Research suggests evaluating primary versus secondary stakeholders, helping managers to identify key partnerships (Freeman, 1984; Todd et al., 2017). The findings also acknowledge that stakeholders of festivals are often both voluntary and involuntary, as community businesses, law enforcement, and local residents will feel both the positive and negative impacts of the event, regardless of their preferences (Turkulainen et al., 2016). This literature provides a solid foundation for the importance of including and communicating with stakeholders for the economic sustainability of music festivals; however, environmental sustainability is regularly overlooked. Equally important to note is the lack of research which showcases the opinions of patrons when studying the environmental impacts and practices (Laing & Frost, 2010). This is a surprising gap in the research as patrons are continuously identified as the most significant stakeholder (Andersson & Getz, 2009). The analyses in this chapter considers how stakeholders may impact the ability of organizers to improve environmental practices.

The findings provide new incentives based on the survey results of patrons' beliefs. The challenges of music festivals are much more than operational. This research demonstrates that a high level of engagement with key stakeholders is required to foster economic, cultural, and environmental sustainability.

## THE COMPLEXITY OF STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS

The creation, staging, and execution of music festivals requires numerous partnerships, interest from consumers, and support from the local community. Consequently, key partnerships required for the economic success and sustainability of festivals have become a common research theme in scholarly studies in management (Karlsen & Nordstrom, 2008; Getz & Andersson, 2010; Luonila & Johansson, 2016). Freeman (1984) introduced stakeholder theory as a way to gain insight into the roles and influence of partnerships. Freeman lists stakeholders as owners, consumer advocates, customers, competitors, media, employees, special interest groups, environmentalists, suppliers, government, and local community organizations. A study by Getz, Andersson, and Larson (2007) specifies the stakeholder groups of music festivals as co-producers, facilitators, allies and collaborators, regulators, suppliers, venue, audience and the individuals impacted voluntarily or involuntarily. This extensive list of individuals and organizations for festival management to maintain relationships with is further convoluted by the complexity behind individual stakeholders, who may identify in multiple groups, and whose influence and lifecycle will shift with the festival (Todd et al., 2017). It is imperative that management understands how to direct these dynamic multi-organizational partnerships (Lampel et al., 2000). Managers must be cognizant of who their stakeholders are, how they can influence the event, and what management strategies to apply, as not all stakeholders are equal in terms of their ability to harm, impede, or help festival organizers (Getz & Andersson, 2010). Each stakeholder relationship plays a significant role in the success of festivals, but it is essential to recognize that each festival also affects and is affected by both voluntary and involuntary stakeholders (Larson, 2011). Collaboration is essential, but navigating these relationships and ensuring every partner is content requires a great deal of time and energy on behalf of management. Forming bonds with the appropriate stakeholders can create all the difference in planning, guaranteed funds, preservation of culture, and even enablement of environmental sustainability. This can be a challenging task, particularly within cultural projects such as festivals (Turkulainen et al., 2016). The festivals in this study also face difficult navigations of complex partnerships. Even so, each claims to have developed solid working relationships throughout the years.

Consulting directly with the host community is a crucial aspect in festival design (Ooi & Pedersen, 2010). Festivals require support from the community to gain access to site properties and develop a strong sense of culture through community involvement. The relationships are reciprocal as host municipalities often also seek opportunities to develop artistic culture within their own community (Karlsen & Nordstrom, 2008; Getz et al., 2007; de Grosbois, 2009). The festivals require this support in order to survive, and the community benefits from the revenue brought in by the festival. One festival in this study felt a need to secure a new location, in part because they needed a larger physical space, but also because there were noise complaints from community members who were not supportive of the festival. Manager Graham (2017) talked about how the move to a new location after failing to receive full support at their previous site ended up being a positive experience:

It was definitely the best thing that could happen for us. Because the land was getting too hectic and small. The traffic on the road was getting busy and although 99 percent of the people that lived in that valley were really supportive of us it just did not feel good being somewhere where there was not 100 percent support.

While the manager did not conduct quantitative research to gain these percentages, she is illustrating a broader point that she is striving for complete community support. In this situation, the new location was very welcoming, as the city was looking for new revenue after experiencing the loss of a festival that did not have full community support. She explains:

Well...because... it's an interesting scenario because that site was used for a festival for years and years and it grew so large that it ended up kind of...too large. So then there was nothing for four or five years on that site and I think the city really recognized at that point what the economic impact had been of the previous festival and so when we came...it was welcomed because it is a small town and they need different revenue streams (Graham, 2017).

It has been argued that there is a pressing need to develop more innovative and imaginative approaches to regional development (Hutton, 2002), and further research has identified recreation and tourism as an opportunity to do so (Nelson et al., 2011). Community support is needed from more than just residents. Permit applications are a requirement within the industry, such as liquor licensing, grey water, parking, and fire safety. This means that all three festivals deal directly with their local municipality during the planning stages. Ensuring political support was another factor expressed by at least one manager:

If you do not have the community behind you it is a horrible, horrible uphill battle. So you have to have the political powers. You have to have council behind you. You have to have the mayor and all of those things. The chamber of commerce... all of those people are so very important and it goes up from there. You got to have the government, the provincial government, you have got to have them in place (Dean, 2017).

The list within the community stakeholder group grows further, as the majority of volunteers, who are also attendees, come directly from the host community. Volunteers are crucial for festival operations, particularly for not-for-profits. For a not-for-profit, the majority of festival functions, such as beer gardens and the environmental programming, is run solely by volunteers. Rockin' River's manager speaks to the importance of volunteers to the general success of his festival:

And then what you really need to have is you need to have a wonderful volunteer group to pull from. So... you got to have... those are integral to running anything. And of course your organization, your staff, all of those (Dean, 2017).

A festival must maintain solid relationships with volunteers. Ultimately, it is the volunteers who allow festivals to expand the diversity and quantity of their services without creating budgetary constraints (Bachman et al., 2014; Cnaan & Goldberg-Glen, 1991). A study by Catano, Pond, and Kelloway (2001) has shown that the setting and environment of a festival are the main contributing factors behind volunteer commitment. Yasel, the green team manager at Bass Coast, has volunteers that work directly under her as her environmental crew. She speaks to how important it is to show appreciation to volunteers:

Honestly we just really appreciate our volunteers....me personally...I just try to always be grateful for their help and treat them kindly and just express my gratitude

for their help. And also we try to encourage... like it is work but it's also... you're there to have a good time. So honestly I really don't have to do much...most of it is just the volunteers. They are so stoked to be there. They are so stoked to help out and most of the green team volunteers will be thanked by people. For example, the attendees will thank them for doing such an amazing job. So it's like while they are working they are receiving so much gratitude from everyone around them (Yasel, 2017).

A volunteer's intent to return is influenced by their experience at the festival, and there is a higher chance of satisfaction and return rate among volunteers when the festival image is congruent with the self-image of festival volunteers (Bachman et al., 2016).

Business relationships within music festivals can take many forms, and there are hundreds of partnerships to maintain. These include sound companies, staging, artists, fencing, plumbing, electrical, and vending to name a few. Gonella (2017) speaks to the volume of vendor business alone that is required to meet festival needs:

I mean the whole site and the whole event is just basically a big opportunity for infrastructure to show up as well as suppliers. I mean you got to have suppliers coming in... at least 35 in food vendors and that is not including the artisan market. There's another 40 in the artisan market. That is almost a hundred businesses just right there.

As expected, management of these relationships takes numerous staff members, and managers must trust in their staff to create and maintain partnerships that are beneficial for both the festival and the business. When asked about how management decides with whom to make partnerships with, answers varied slightly. The Roots and Blues manager speaks to how even placement of food vendors is a fundamental component to maintain a solid relationship:

Right... she (*office administrator*) is going to have two pizzas, two coffees, two lemonade stands, two of these, four of these... kind of so we can blend it all on site. I mean we might have four hot dog stands but they're all on four key points away from each other on site. Because it is not serving those vendors. We have to protect the vendor's investment to stay. Right? So if you come on... you are a hot dog vendor for example you are not going to be pleased to have two other ones right next to you (Gonella, 2017).

In addition to this reference above from Gonella, Graham also mentions the importance of not creating competition among suppliers, but also touches on the significance of ensuring that partnerships match or reflect well with the values of the festival:

And we approach the food vending kind of like curating the art instillations or the artisan vending. Like we have a manager who actually is... well we have the food vending manager Steve. He vends at a ton of different festivals and he is very experienced and knows most of the people that would be applying and so he is able to sort of curate who we accept to be fitting with our values. And also to provide a really good cross section of food so they are not competing with each other and all of those things. He is great at all of that (Graham, 2017).

Sponsorship is the most common form of funding within music festivals (Andersson et al., 2013) and it has a strong impact on management decisions due to contract stipulations and requirements. Gaining sponsorship can also be tricky for management. Gonella (2017) explains how sponsorship works for his festival, and how profit numbers play a big role in whether or not he can gain investors:

Because they are underfunded (*sponsors*). They have to select. They have to save us (*from financial peril*), or help us get started. They have to focus. And it is not criticism. Do not take it from me as criticism. It is just that they are underfunded themselves and we will never have the funding we want because we are in the arts... that is never going to be sustained. That will never be sustained. And that is our problem, right? So... that is why we stick to an average over the last twelve years for attendance... that is where our budget is set to now. Take out the high, take out the low and you have an average. And that is where we try to set our budget. Even though we had a great year last year we still came into this year with the same budget that we had the previous year.

Sponsors also have limited funds and must allocate their funds carefully, choosing to fund an organization that is truly in need. This places organizers of Roots and Blues in a difficult position: if the festival progresses too quickly and presents a larger budget, sponsors may decide the funds could be allocated to somewhere of better use. He also explains how contracts with sponsors can actually limit new opportunities:

And I was stuck last year... I wanted to do this last year (*create new partnerships*). But I did not do it because we have an exclusive deal that I did not want to break. Because of the financial year we had for the previous two years I did not feel like I could gamble on both deals. This year we have more chips, make more crazy decisions that I think are better for us (Gonella, 2017).

A study by Getz and Andersson (2010) found that festival reliance on sponsors varied quite broadly, but research did indicate a pattern of dependency on sponsors for festivals of a private, for-profit orientation or not-for-profit festivals whose mission is either comprised or strengthened by corporate involvement. While the study by Getz and Andersson (2010) was carried out through Sweden, Norway, Scotland, and Australia, the authors did note that sponsorship was believed to be a more common source of revenue in some countries, particularly the United States. Stakeholders are commonly classified based on the festival's level of dependence (Getz & Andersson, 2010). Rockin' River's manager briefly speaks to the order of stakeholders but in regards to the ability to create a festival to begin with:

I mean there is... of course it starts with the company deciding what the group of investors or whatever saying "okay we feel that the audience is going to enjoy this or we need this in the community" so I think the stakeholders are the first and foremost the investors that come... or they're the first ones... not foremost... but the first ones are the investors that come up and decide that they're going to plan it. They're going to do it and then the people who run the festival... and then I think you've got the community (Dean, 2017).

Dean classifies investors as one of the first stakeholders, followed by staff and the community. It was clear throughout his interview that collaboration and support was critical to the festival. This suggests that the orientation, goals, and values of the festivals are crucial components used by festival managers to prioritize stakeholders.

Maintaining communication with stakeholders is crucial, and personal communication, either face to face or through messaging, is thought to be the most successful mode (Turkulainen et al., 2016). The Rockin' River manager speaks about the importance of maintaining communication with all stakeholders:

You know so, when we first went there we started out that way and we have tried to maintain that as good as we can to have a very open dialogue with all of them. Because I think it is vital. If somebody is sitting there and you do not talk to them for six months and they were mad at you because something went wrong at the last meeting or last event, they have six months to brew on it. Whereas if your meeting on a regular basis and you have open dialogue, like all of these people have my personal phone number and are able, if they have an issue or a question, they feel free to give me a call. And that has been a tremendous thing for me (Dean, 2017).

Turkulainen, Aaltonen and Lohikoski (2016) recognize that the management of stakeholders within festivals can be a greater challenge because communication must be maintained over the projects extensive lifecycle. It is thought to be additionally difficult due to the unpredictability and ambiguity of experiential goods in cultural projects such as music festivals (Pan & Huan, 2013).

It is clear that stakeholder management is not as simple as one might first assume. To create and sustain partnerships requires significant time and thought on behalf of managers. What should be noted here is that the majority of the partnerships are created and navigated with sustainability in mind, particularly economic and social. The three pillars of sustainability are generally understood by many scholars to be economic, socio-cultural, and environmental (Getz & Andersson, 2008; Mair & Laing, 2012; Quinn, 2006) but studies often fail to stress the importance and impact that stakeholders can have on environmental practices. Managers are keen to form partnerships that will benefit their festival financially and are quick to turn down partnerships that do not reflect the culture of their festival. Conversely, many fail to take into account how the partnerships they create affects their environmental practices. Managers understand that change is not always simply operational. Partners, shareholders, and sponsors need to be on board and communicated with when any substantive change is being contemplated. In this sense, it seems inconceivable not to acknowledge that environmental programs, as the third pillar of sustainability, could be more successful if supported by stakeholders. The most significant stakeholder, holding the utmost potential to initiate this change, is the patron.

### THE CONSUMPTION PATTERNS OF PATRONS

Music festivals are becoming more popular worldwide, prompting extensive research on the consumption patterns of patrons in regards to their experience and motivations to attend in order to improve attendance and generate economic gain within communities (Blesic et al., 2014; Hudson et al., 2015; Leenders, 2010; Pegg & Patterson, 2010). Although festivals rely on collaboration and support from businesses and communities, the patron is the most crucial stakeholder, particularly in regards to not-for-profit and private festivals (Andersson & Getz, 2009). They are also the group that has the greatest potential to drive change, as their perceptions and values are vital knowledge for managers, particularly to create effective marketing strategies (Andersson & Lundenberg, 2013; Smith & Costello, 2009). Developing loyalty with patrons is a significant part of stakeholder navigation that festival managers have learnt to manage well. This building of trust with consumers is predicated on the belief that the festival will deliver a unique experience, worthy artistic line-ups, food, safety, and cleanliness. Post-festival surveys are a common way for managers to capture patron opinions in search of feedback to consistently improve (Getz, 1991). The surveys in this research differed from the usual context in that the focus was on the environmental impacts of festivals and how this influences patron decisions when deciding which festival to attend.

These surveys were conducted in person by the researcher and an assistant during festival hours. The surveys were completely voluntary and anonymous, with no personal identifiers attached to any of the results. Respondents could withdraw from the survey at any point without consequences. In total, there were 613 respondents, with an average of over 200 per festival. There were more male respondents at Bass Coast and Rockin' River, with slightly more female respondents for Roots and Blues (see Figure 3.1). Age distribution varied at each festival, with younger audiences attending Bass Coast and Rockin' River, while a wider age range was present at Roots and Blues (see Figure 3.2). Taken together, the majority of respondents were from British Columbia, followed by Alberta with few non-Canadian residencies (see Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.1 Gender Distribution by Festival



Figure 3.2 Age Distribution by Festival



Figure 3.3 Patron Origin by Festival

Management indicated that conversations with patrons regarding their perceptions of environmental sustainability ranged from rare to nonexistent. These surveys revealed that patrons are aware of environmental impacts, particularly with waste, damage to the local environment, and pollution (see Figure 3.4). Only 43 respondents in total (7%) believed that music festivals created no significant negative impacts. When asked to rate the level of importance of environmental programs, ticket price, atmosphere, and line up to their overall experience at a music festival, results revealed patrons found recycling, proper disposal of waste, and good atmosphere as most important (see Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.4 Patron Perspectives of Large Negative Impacts



Figure 3.5 Patron Ratings of Importance on Different Music Festival Elements

What is interesting to note from these surveys is the differences in responses at each festival and the awareness they provide into the relationship between festivals and patrons. Respondents at Bass Coast Music Festival revealed strong environmental values and placed

the most importance on basic environmental efforts in comparison to the other festivals (see Figure 3.6). Patrons of Roots and Blues had similar responses, scaling high for importance of efforts such as recycling, proper disposal of waste, and the use of environmentally friendly products. One of the more interesting findings from this study was that 88% of respondents from Bass Coast and 79% of Roots and Blues respondents were more likely to attend a festival that is environmentally friendly. Additionally, 88% of people from Bass Coast and 85% of respondents from Roots and Blues were willing to pay an additional charge on their ticket price to mitigate negative environmental impacts. At Bass Coast, 31% were willing to pay twenty dollars or more while only 6% at Roots and Blues would pay twenty dollars or more. However, 41% at Roots and Blues were willing to pay five to ten dollars. Many festival attendees did express verbally that they would want complete transparency from the organizers about how this additional fee would be utilized. Only 12% of respondents at Bass Coast and 15% at Roots and Blues were not willing to pay an additional fee to combat negative impacts. Over half of these respondents at both festivals (57% at Bass Coast and 55% at Roots and Blues) felt it was the responsibility of the organizers to manage any negative impacts. The responses at Rockin' River Music Festival were quite different. At this festival, respondents were less concerned with environmental practices, although they recognized that impacts do exist. Intriguingly, at this festival, 55% indicated that they would not be more likely to attend a music festival just because it has improved environmental practices, and 53% were not willing to pay an additional charge. Of this 53%, a majority of the patrons either could not afford an additional fee (56%) or thought it was the responsibility of the organizers to handle environmental hurdles (27%).



Figure 3.6 Very Important Practices as Rated by Survey Respondents

These results are indicative of the relationship between festival values and patron values. Bass Coast was the most environmentally oriented, with a patronage base expressing similar interests. Roots and Blues, while eager to become more environmentally oriented, falls slightly short in their practices in comparison to Bass Coast, and the results of their surveys do as well. Rockin' River's management has a stronger emphasis on their artistic line-up, and not as many environmental core values, which is mirrored in the survey results. This is supported by studies which have proposed that festivals with green values can be suggestive to patrons and serve as a behavioral model (Hottle et al., 2015). Green festival involvement is known to significantly influence attendees' perceived value of green events. This suggests that as consumers become more involved in an environmentally friendly event, they are more inclined to realize its value (Wong et al., 2015). In turn, participation and demand for environmental practices is expected to grow, which will give festivals with established environmental initiatives a competitive edge. There is already growing interest to adopt green initiatives to improve an event's competitiveness (Whitfield & Dioko, 2012). Nonetheless, the potential to educate patrons should not be overshadowed by financial gain. Through the interviews managers have expressed personal concern for environmental practices, showing an awareness that the natural environment is something that we all share,

and that environmental negligence within a festival could eventually impact their own experiences in the environment outside of the festival. Organizers can use their festivals to create and strengthen awareness of this important connection to patrons by using the pristine setting to showcase why environmental practices are so critical, both within the context of an event and beyond.

There are some similarities that are worth noting from the survey results. Research has suggested that while the artistic line-up is one of the key components of music festivals, it is not always the main motivator for attendance, whereas components such as good weather, cozy and sociable company, good music, and feelings of solidarity and togetherness ranked higher as motivators (Leenders, 2010). In our surveys, when patrons were asked to rate the importance of artistic talent, 87% of the respondents at Bass Coast and 74% at Rockin' River reported the line-up to be important or very important, whereas responses from Roots and Blues were closer in value, and had 39% rating line-up as important or very important. These are higher numbers than expected considering previous research on artistic line-up playing a smaller role in motivation and importance (Leenders, 2010). Although, 98% of all respondents did identify that the atmosphere is very important. These responses are critical as they emphasize that the physical environment is a crucial component of building festival atmosphere (Lee, 2016).

In regards to the demographics at each festival, there appear to be no major significant differences of opinion that can be traced to the age of attendees or festival location, and only slight differences in regards to gender. More females (90%) were aware to somewhat aware of the environmental impact than males (85%) (see Figure 3.7). More females also rated environmental practices such as recycling (82%), proper disposal of waste (84%), and use of environmentally friendly products (65%) as very important, roughly ten percent more than males (recycling 74%, proper disposal of waste 73%, use of environmentally friendly products 55%) (see Figure 3.8). Also, more women (76%) were willing to pay an additional fee than men (71%). These findings are consistent with previous research that shows women are generally more concerned with environmentalism (Milfont & Sibley, 2016; Salehi et al., 2015; Stern et al., 1995; Zelezny et al., 2000).



Figure 3.7 Awareness of Environmental Impacts Based on Gender



Figure 3.8 Very Important Practices Based on Gender

Analysis of age data indicates that festival values are a stronger variable than age, with responses ranging widely for each festival. There appears to be more awareness of

environmental impacts and importance of practices from respondents aged between 25 and 44 (see Figures 3.9 and 3.10). However, because the majority of respondents fall between the 25 - 34 age category, meaningful comparisons over age distribution are difficult to make. Results analyzed by age become more interesting broken down by festival, as it is the patrons aged 35 and above at Roots and Blues that acknowledged more types of negative impacts such as noise pollution, damage to local environments, and local community impacts. Additionally, more respondents at this festival aged between 45-74 also claimed to review the environmental policies of music festivals (12%). Conversely, the majority of patrons at Bass Coast fall into the younger age categories (25-34, 35-44 and 18-24) and this generation appears to have stronger environmental values in comparison to all age groups at each festival. The results of perspectives on environmentalism analyzed by age are not consistent between each festival. This demonstrates again that many of these environmental values are not based on demographics, but rather on personal values which are reflected in the theme, atmosphere, and values that are portrayed through the music festivals. Graham, the manager at Bass Coast, believes the consumers have become the main driver for environmentalism at her festival. She explains why:

Just because of the type of community that is part of Bass Coast... in a broad statement: they are open minded, creative, work in like a large variety of industries, but seem to be interested in something new. And that curiosity I think also is reflected in trying to live healthy, have a smaller impact, and you know... be better people. It is just an overall kind of... that seems to be a common thread between people that come to Bass Coast (Graham, 2017).

Research by Nicholson and Pearce (2001) articulates that one of the most significant reasons for attendance at major events relates specifically to the theme and activities. Graham indicated that, from inception, she set out to develop a festival that had a minimal impact on the environment, and these values are now woven into the atmosphere of the festival and valued just as highly by the community that is drawn to Bass Coast.



Figure 3.9 Awareness of Environmental Impacts Based on Age



Figure 3.110 Very Important Practices Based on Age

Management should be more in tune to how caring for their environment could improve festival atmosphere. Other stakeholders are often task-oriented, but consumers are more hedonistic, and pleasing festival patrons is an essential element of management (Pera et al., 2016). When asked to rank stakeholders in order of importance, all three festivals described their patrons as most important. For Rockin' River, speaking with attendees and staying current to their wants and needs was a critical piece to the sustainability of the festival. As the Rockin River manager articulates below:

...We also have to make sure that we keep our ear to the ground and stay current. Understand what the audience wants and listen to our audience. It is a festival that was started by musicians and is run by musicians. So the music world is all we have ever known. As a family all we have ever done is music. So I think that if we cannot adjust to what is current... if we cannot figure out what is current... I cannot see why anybody else could. You know... because I have got children that work for me as well that are in their twenties and thirties. So they are listening with young ears while I am listening with old ears. And so it is a nice marriage between that (Dean, 2017).

Dean refers to being aware of his patrons wants and needs, particularly in regards to the artistic line-up, but he also explains how the festival is more than just a music venue. The festival grounds become almost home for patrons:

I think we do a lot more than most just to try and entertain. You know if you go see a concert at the arena... you walk in and your ticket gets taken and that's pretty much the end of your connection to the event. You sit down and you watch your show and that's it. There's no more... where for us... we've got you there for four days so we want to make sure that we take care of you. We become your host... no different than having friends and family over for the weekend. We want to make sure that they're taken care of (Dean, 2017).

Being able to provide a place where festival patrons have a strong sense of community and social inclusion has been identified as a common source of pride among festival organizers (Finkel, 2010; Laing & Mair, 2015). By this same means, if patrons begin to voice their concerns for environmental practices, particularly in connection to their festival experience, managers will feel the pressure to implement green initiatives. When speaking about change within festivals, manager Gonella (2017) says at his festival they do not implement large change unless at least seven percent of his consumers make a request:

We do surveys. They directly affect. I do the seven percent rule, so if it is over seven percent of opinion then we listen to it. Like a third rule, like every thirty percent of something, third rule. It is just a percentage that I have always used as a way of helping let me know if it is a commitment I should concentrate on or something. The thing is that I get filled with so many requests, so I sort of know when to gauge the ones that actually have momentum and actually may be on a lot of people's minds. That is where I use the seven percent rule.

Unfortunately, he does not feel as though there is enough demand from patrons to make a change environmentally:

Most of the time it is left to us organizers to raise the bar. And that is one of the reasons why we do not focus on it. Honestly, because we do not have a lot of push from the patrons, overtly. Right? They are not overtly saying. They would rather have a headliner than four garbage cans, putting it in perspective. They are not wishing for that. They want popular bands to come. And also recycling bins, they are not asking for those. There has never been a conversation that happens (Gonella, 2017).

As Gonella refers to above, there has not yet been a dialogue with attendees around the environment in his festival. That does not mean there is not a conversation to be had, it just indicates that neither side has initiated a dialogue. Although the patron opinion is valued, few studies have examined the influence of attendees on management decisions or their concern with environmental practices (Mair & Laing, 2012; Wong et al., 2015). This survey opens the door for conversation with attendees, dealing directly with the consumer to gain insight into how they feel about environmental practices. This research suggests that consumers have the potential to leverage their role as the most valued stakeholder and create real change, and that there is a potential marketing advantage to becoming environmentally friendly. This relies on the fact that consumers would rather attend a festival with strong environmental practices. Although respondents were quick to say they would rather attend an environmentally friendly festival, only 22% of all respondents check the environmental policies of a festival before purchasing a ticket. This is interesting to note because there appeared to be a correlation between practices portrayed online and patron views, and there is a significant difference in the environmental values included on each website. Roots and Blues outlines their environmental practices, Rockin' River has omitted them, and Bass Coast does not delve into the details of their environmental practices, but instead stresses the importance of environmentalism to the entire festival ethos. It is up to management to use this knowledge to develop stronger advertising, particularly through social media as it commands the greatest reach and it is a key part in brand development and loyalty (Hudson et al., 2015).

The interviews indicate that if patrons were more vocal about the importance of environmental practices at music festivals, managers would feel more pressure to make changes. Through analysis of the findings of our survey results, this research provides a snapshot around patron opinion on the environmental efforts of music festivals in British Columbia. Contrary to management opinion, this research shows that patrons do care about the environment, they just are not overly vocal about it. It should be acknowledged that patrons of these festivals do find environmental initiatives such as recycling and proper disposal of waste very important practices to include at music festivals. Atmosphere is relayed as one of the most significant elements of the patron experience in this study, and the environment is known to play a crucial role in its creation (Lee, 2016). Generating conversation with attendees to learn more about their preferences with regard to environmentalism can help managers gain a competitive edge, improve their festival atmosphere and lead to a more sustainable event (Barber et al., 2014; Song et al., 2015). This study agrees that further research should be conducted around other complex social components that can affect environmental practices of patrons including factors such as convenience, perceived efficacy, outreach, and participation (Hottle et al., 2015). Behavior change is a central factor, necessary for shifting to more sustainable waste management, yet there is a lack of research on behavior change intentions (Zhang et al., 2011). This area of research warrants more investigation into behavior change, intentions, and how music genre plays a factor in the environmental perspectives of patrons.

# PUSHING THE MESSAGE TO ALL ENTITIES: HOW TO GENERATE CHANGE

Stakeholder and patron relationships are a complex but crucial element of festival design. The exchanges between organizers and stakeholder individuals, namely the creativity, flexibility and negotiation, are what leads to valuable co-creation. These networks are widely acknowledged for the opportunities they present for enterprises to make operational improvements and enhance the value of their business activities (Luonila & Johansson, 2016; Pera et al., 2016). By approaching stakeholders with a holistic lens, which considers their influence on and their role within management, organizers can critically analyze and prioritize the stakeholder relationship to enhance festival sustainability (Karlsen & Nordstrom, 2008). Previous studies emphasize the importance of creating partnerships that increase the viability and economic sustainability of festivals (Andersson & Getz, 2008). The
findings in this research suggest that including environmental practices within these conversations is the first step to overcoming barriers to environmentalism and building a sustainable foundation to move forward.

Stakeholders are not always thought of as instrumental in working towards environmental sustainability. Currently in British Columbia, festivals are not under enough pressure to operate at a high level of environmentalism, and are facing too many operational obstacles to create effective change without fear of substantive damage to the bottom line. While some scholars argue that innovation can be developed by a single individual in an organization and does not necessarily need to come from the top of the chain of command to be successful (Andersson & Bateman, 2000; Hemingway & Maclagan, 2004), implementation of change does need to be communicated through all entities. This is particularly the case in festivals which are comprised of dynamic multi-organizations. The role of festival leadership includes being an innovator and partner, and improvements with innovation, production and experience are facilitated not only through festival operations, but also with the cooperation of stakeholders and partners (Getz et al., 2007; Luonila & Johansson, 2016). Rockin' River's manager speaks to the importance of communication and understanding of operations with all involved, no matter how seemingly inconsequential the matter:

Oh, my goodness, yes. It does. And it takes everybody understanding. You cannot just be one guy at the top going "okay, this is important." It needs to be everybody understanding that the philosophy of the industry... the philosophy of that particular company... needs to go right down to the volunteers. To the guy who has the hardest job... picking up garbage or whatever. They need to understand that if somebody comes up and says, "Hey, I lost my cat," they need to make it important. They need to ask up the chain and make it important. And the guy at the top who you know... some guy comes running up to me and says, "Hey, I lost my cat," I cannot go "Oh, go tell a volunteer." I cannot do that. I need to turn to that person and say, "Just a minute, let me make a call," and I need to get on the radio and I need to say, "Hey, somebody's cat is missing." You know what I mean? Whether I care about cats or not, that is irrelevant. I care about the customers. Because inevitably, if you do not care about your customers, soon enough it will be just as bad as not caring about your business. Because it is going to fail. And I know I preach but... I think the philosophy that I preach benefits everybody (Dean, 2017).

While this quote does not directly involve environmentalism, it showcases the understanding on behalf of management in regard to the importance of keeping every stakeholder in the loop. He further explains the complexities of festivals and the importance of everything working together through an analogy:

Absolutely. Without a question. I absolutely believe that everything has to work together. I always talk to everybody about a festival being like a Rubik's Cube, inside a Rubik's Cube, inside a Rubik's Cube. And if you do not... at some point everything will come together... but everything has to be in motion at all times and we have to watch every move that we make and be smart about it. And every single square is important. Everybody is important (Dean, 2017).

As Getz, Andersson, and Larson (2007) emphasize, managers of festivals are not independent actors, but rather dependent co-producers in a network of organizations, relying on many sources to help achieve their goals. It is because of these dependencies that festivals struggle to meet environmental targets. The many challenges of environmentalism include learning to implement practices that can be easily set up and executed. Roots and Blues festival manager Gonella (2017) explains further:

We are always looking for those things that we can just do up line and have them set up so when they are down the line they can be implemented without thoughts like, "that's the way we just do it." Versus trying to do some kind of cultural change. That is the problem. We are going to need all sorts of training with. We can hire HR to help with focusing on this... but we still need a community cultural change for some of this. For example, everyone has to agree that we are okay with the compostable toilets. Where you going to put this stuff? I mean can we all just bring it to your house? Use it for your garden?

This need for cultural change can be understood as a need for complete understanding, agreement, and participation from all those that create impact or will be impacted. He explains how this also becomes one of the reasons that his festival does not feel the need to operate at a higher level of environmental sustainability:

But we are talking about a cultural change. So... that is something... I would consider that under a cultural change... because it is your community. Cultural is more of a group thing. It is not an individual thing. Like you can have your own culture... but if I want all of us to follow it... that is a cultural change. Does that make sense? So what you are asking is do we have a mandate to push to all our connected entities saying "this is where we want to go with"? You know... I think we

are piggy backing off of a movement in our time. I do not think we have to be the leader in that... honestly. I mean we can be... but I mean it would just be for stoking your own fire. Because I think culturally the momentum is there. Right? We are being influenced by other festivals, we are influenced by other people... so we are always trying to adjust in that because it is competitive. Or based on competition rather than pure altruism (Gonella, 2017).

There is no immediate call to action for festivals in B.C. to begin making an environmental shift in values because outside pressures are not yet strong enough. There has yet to be a conversation around the environmental practices with stakeholders, as the festivals are waiting for society to inspire change rather than owning their responsibility and creating change themselves. Protecting the values of the festival was expressed as being an important element in each case. There is already an understanding that managers do not want to partner with organizations that are not going to benefit the festival or that might reflect poorly on them as an organization. While the view of one manager is that personal affairs cannot be allowed to interrupt business, his ethical values in partnership are always considered:

No I do not. If you're asking if you know... something along the lines of their political affiliation, no it does not. But if I had a company that I thought did not care about their business... like if I heard that they were at another festival and a speaker fell off and hurt somebody and they did not care about it then of course I am not going to hire them. So that part of my values matters, but....my political values, my religious values, none of that plays any part whatsoever. My ethical values matter very much. And my moral stances absolutely matter in who I hire. But you know... that is just good business (Dean, 2017).

Managers are already making decisions based on personal values at a business level, but values need to expand to include environmental practices, as impact reduction relies heavily on the beliefs of managers and host organizations who can act as stewards of environmentalism (Mair & Laing, 2012). Two of the festivals do not currently address environmental practices in their partnership process. Conversely, for Bass Coast manager, Graham (2017), sustainability has always been a core goal and these conversations are already initiated when seeking partnerships:

I am just trying to think of suppliers that have reached out about it. I mean the ones that come in through our application process, I do not think they have the opportunity to even express that interest before we are like, "this is what we're looking for," so we have already started that conversation.

The festival is able to avoid partnerships that do not align with values of environmentalism by establishing a dialogue early, thus allowing them to work on agreements that benefit everyone. The relationships between managers and stakeholders are two-fold and there should be expectations on both ends. For example, managers have expressed the need for patron involvement in order for environmental success. The survey results showed that 52% of patrons are aware of the negative impacts of music festivals and an additional 35% were somewhat aware. While some are eager to participate, others feel it is the responsibility of the organizer to prevent impacts. Currently, there is little expectation for attendees to assume responsibility but, by communicating and educating attendees, managers can increase participation in environmental programs and significantly influence perception of the value of green events (Wong et al., 2015). This same approach should be applied to partnerships. As managers begin to seek out more environmentally friendly providers, suppliers will begin to feel pressure to change. Graham (2017) speaks about how her suppliers are already beginning to be exposed to these needs:

Well some of the bigger generators are eco-diesel. Things like that. So within their own companies I think they are starting to also try and reflect what people want. I think that the people that run those companies, you know supply and power, you would supply to a huge variety of industries from festivals to tree planting to work sites like construction. And I think through that they are exposed to different mind sets. So...maybe just through exposure and their own personal interest it is starting to pop up.

Sponsorship contracts should also be addressed in this way. Bass Coast does not take sponsorships to protect the integrity of its core values. She explains her view on sponsorship:

Yeah, our whole concept is that Bass Coast is sponsored by you. By the attendee. Like the ticket holder by the artist by everyone involved. Like that is who sponsors Bass Coast! And so that is our belief. We are not opposed to very specific industry related partnerships, if it really is benefiting both and also the attendee. I could see some music production company and if they want to come in and offer like a workshop that would to me seem really fitting. But we do not have any. We have been approached by cigarette companies and car companies and things like that and it is just not of interest (Graham, 2017).

Bass Coast is in a unique position because it was built without the financial support of

sponsorships, but the lesson is still applicable. By choosing not to partner with companies that do not reflect their environmental values, organizations and their managers can begin to lessen restrictions or the impacts of taking on a sponsor that contradicts festival leadership beliefs. The benefits of greening a festival and becoming formally recognized as such include alleviating industry and stakeholder stresses, as well as attracting more sponsorships that align with these goals (Mair & Laing, 2012). Festival manager Gonella (2017) has already experienced a snowball effect with liquor sponsorships:

Like right now we did this (*partnered with local craft breweries*), and then suddenly another brewery heard we were doing this and wanted to get in. And we did not have room for them so they paid for all the sponsorship appreciation beer and wanted to be involved. That gives competition. More people and sponsorships you have on this thing... the other sponsors see that they have a piece of the pie and they want to get in...competition breeds competition. Monopoly breeds monopoly. There is no way around it.

Music festivals provide a platform of opportunity for partners to improve services, experiment with new products, and foster new collaborations, making them attractive for businesses looking to build relationships with other enterprises in the festival's partner portfolio as well as consumers (Mackellar, 2006; Luonila & Johansson, 2016). Corporate sponsors in North America provide a much higher level of revenue and therefore are more powerful (Andersson & Getz, 2008). Nevertheless, by mastering the ability to leverage their platform and craft strategic relationships that are beneficial financially and environmentally, managers can come out with more favourable contracts and also attract interest from other businesses. Getz, Andersson, and Larson (2007) argue that festivals with strong identities that are valued within a community can develop powerful positions in relation to their stakeholders. As explained by Barber, Kim, and Barth (2014), "festivals should partner toward a common strategy that will influence the destination's positioning, awareness, and funding opportunities that can benefit recycling and other local environmental behaviors" (p. 617). As music festivals become more established, the power to leverage their platform matures and becomes an opportunity to develop robust relationships with stakeholders that support their environmental sustainability.

Generating change within a music festival can be very difficult, more so if the change involves a shift in values or goals. The culture of music festivals currently revolves around

exploration of music and atmosphere, socialization, and feelings of escape (Blesic et al., 2014). Music festivals bring together mass amounts of people and partnerships who are all invested in the success of the event. Without patron participation and broad stakeholder support, the responsibility for environmental program success rests with festival staff alone. Organizers must learn to incorporate their current knowledge and management of these complex relationships to address environmentalism, rather than treating it as a separate entity. The complexity behind stakeholder relationships reveals that many of the barriers to environmentalism extend past simply a financial constraint or lack of supplies. Managers would not expect to make a large change to the finances or social values of their festival without stakeholder support, and this study suggests that environmentalism should receive the same consideration. With all parties involved and a deeper understanding, programs will have a much greater likelihood of success and any barriers will become easier to overcome.

#### CONCLUSION

As concern for environmentalism continues to grow, it is essential that managers of music festivals better understand how their current stakeholder relationships, including perspectives of patrons, encourage or impede their ability to incorporate green practices. Inadequate management can lead to a festival that focuses too heavily on the monetary potential, putting it at risk of losing its cultural significance and thus losing the support of their major stakeholders. It is clear from this research that finding stakeholders that will support the festival's values and goals, including environmental objectives, is key to overall sustainability.

It was evident from the interviews with managers that they cannot make large operational changes without the support of stakeholders. Most importantly, managers consulted in this study do not want to sell out their values for financial gain. Staying true to the roots of the festival is of major importance to their audience, and maintaining a foundation of loyalty and trust with patrons is imperative. By initiating conversations with partners and communicating environmental objectives, managers can begin to identify partnerships that do not fit with their standards. Forming new partnerships that highlight sustainable practices can create opportunity for a snowball effect and create new demand. This research demonstrates that management already has the tools and understanding of how to navigate the complex relationships that keep their festival afloat, therefore it is simply a matter of an adjustment of perspective to include environmental practices.

The patron is largely identified as the most crucial stakeholder and therefore has been a main focus of festival research (Blesic et al., 2014; Crompton & McKay, 1997; Mohr et al., 1993). In regards to environmentalism, the opinions of patrons have been severely understudied. This research addresses this gap in knowledge by conducting surveys focusing on the perspectives of patrons on environmental practices, their knowledge of negative impacts, and how these affect their festival experience. The first theme that emerged was that the majority of patrons are aware of environmental impacts, but their level of concern and knowledge varies depending on the festival they were attending. It was observed that the feedback from patrons often reflected the environmental practices of the festival, and arguably the values and atmosphere established at each event. It was notable from the survey results that the majority of patrons were more likely to attend a festival that has strong environmental practices, however, it is up to the organizers to deliver and communicate this message to attendees. This demonstrates the potential that managers have to use their festival as a platform to educate their patrons and instigate a change outside the festival lifestyle as well. Because surveys were integrated into this research, patron perspectives and knowledge are now represented in the depiction of, and recommendations for, the festival industry in B.C. Therefore, when planning future development, the opinions of patrons towards environmental practices should be thought of as an important factor to influence manager attitudes and potentially the values articulated at music festivals.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Andersson, L. M., & Bateman, T. S. (2000). Individual environmental initiative: Championing natural environmental issues in US business organizations. Academy of Management Journal, 43(4), 548-570.
- Andersson, T. D., & Getz, D. (2008). Stakeholder Management Strategies of Festivals. Journal of Convention & Event Tourism, 9(3), 199-220.
- Andersson, T.D. & Getz, D. (2009). Tourism as a mixed industry: Differences between private, public and not-for-profit festivals. *Tourism Management*, *30*(6), 847-856.
- Andersson, T. D., Getz, D., Mykletun, J., Jæger, K., & Dolles, H. (2013). Factors influencing grant and sponsorship revenue for festivals. *Event Management*, 17(3), 195-212.
- Andersson, T. D., & Lundberg, E. (2013). Commensurability and sustainability: Triple impact assessments of a tourism event. *Tourism Management*, 37, 99-109.
- Bachman, J. R., Backman, K. F., & Norman, W. C. (2014). A segmentation of volunteers at the 2013 Austin city limits music festival: Insights and future directions. *Journal of Convention & Event Tourism*, 15(4), 298-315.
- Bachman, J. R., Norman, W. C., Hopkins, C. D., & Brookover, R. S. (2016). Examing the role of self-concept theory on motivation, satisfaction, and intent to return of music festival volunteers. *Event Management*, 20(1), 41-52.
- Barber, N. A., Kim, Y. H., & Barth, S. (2014). The importance of recycling to U.S. festival visitors: A preliminary study. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 23(6), 601-625.
- Blesic, I., Pivac, T., Stamenkovic, I., Besermenji, S., & Markovic, S. (2014). Investigation of visitor motivation of the exit music festival (the republic of Serbia). Revista De Turism - Studii Si Cercetari in Turism, (18), 8-15.
- Catano, V., Pond, M., & Kelloway, E. (2001). Exploring commitment and leadership in volunteer organizations. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 22(5/6), 256-263.
- Cnnan, R. A., & Goldberg-Glen, R. S. (1991). Measuring motivation to volunteer in human services. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 27(3), 269-284.

- Crompton, J. L., & McKay, S. L. (1997). Motives of visitors attending festival events. *Annals of tourism research*, 24(2), 425-439.
- de Grosbois, D. (2009). Assessing the socio-cultural impact of special events: Frameworks, methods, and challenges. *Journal of Tourism Challenges & Trends*, 2(2), 39-52.
- Finkel, R. (2010). "Dancing around the ring of fire": Social capital, tourism resistance and gender dichotomies at Up Helly AA in Lerwick, Shetland. *Event Management*, 14(4), 275-285.
- Freeman, R. (1984). Strategic management: A stakeholder approach. Boston, MA: Pitman.
- Getz, D. (1991). *Festivals, special events, and tourism*. New York, NY: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Getz, D., & Andersson, T. D. (2008). Sustainable festivals: On becoming an institution. *Event Management*, 12(1), 1-17.
- Getz, D., Andersson, T., & Larson, M. (2007). Festival stakeholder roles: Concepts and case studies. *Event Management*, *10*(2/3), 103-122.
- Getz, D., & Andersson, T. (2010). Festival stakeholders: Exploring relationships and dependency through a four-country comparison. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Research*, (4), 531.
- Hemingway, C. A., & Maclagan, P. W. (2004). Managers' personal values as driers of corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 50(1), 33-44.
- Hottle, T. A., Bilec, M.M., Brown, N. R., & Landis, A. E. (2015). Toward zero waste: Composting and recycling for sustainable venue based events. *Waste Management*, 38, 86-94.
- Hudson, S., Roth, M. S., Madden, T. J., & Hudson, R. (2015). The effects of social media on emotions, brand relationship quality, and word of mouth: An empirical study of music festival attendees. *Tourism Management*, 47, 68-76.
- Hutton, T. (2002). British Columbia at the crossroads: New regional development pathways for the 21<sup>st</sup> century. *A review of the literature on regional development processes, issues, and policy implications for BC, Report prepared for Project, 250.*

- Karlsen, S. & Nordstrom, C. S. (2008). Festivals in the Barents region: Presuppositions for building and maintaining stakeholder relationships. *Nordic Symposium in Tourism and Hospitality Research*.
- Laing, J., & Frost, W. (2010). How green was my festival: Exploring challenges and opportunities associated with staging green events. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29(2), 261-267.
- Laing, J., & Mair, J. (2015). Music festivals and social inclusion the festival organizers perspective. *Leisure Sciences*, 37(3), 252-268.
- Lampel, J., Lant, T., & Shamsie, J. (2000). Balancing act: Learning from organizing practices in cultural industries. *Organization Science*, 11(3), 263-269.
- Larson, M. (2011). Innovation and creativity in festival organizations. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 20(34), 287-310.
- Lee, Y. (2016). Impact of policy and environment quality on visitor loyalty to Taiwan music festivals: Moderating effects of revisit season and occupation type. *Tourism Management*, 53, 187-196.
- Leenders, M. M. (2010). The relative importance of the brand of music festivals: A customer equity perspective. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 18(4), 291-301.
- Luonila, M., & Johansson, T. (2016). Reasons for networking in institutionalized music productions: Case studies of an opera house and a music festival. *International Journal of Arts Management*, *18*(3), 50-56.
- Mackellar, J. (2006). An integrated view of innovation emerging from a regional festival. *International Journal of Event Management Research*, 2(1), 37-48.
- Mair, J., & Laing, J. (2012). The greening of music festivals: Motivations, barriers and outcomes. applying the Mair and Jago model. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 20(5), 683-700.
- Milfont, T. L., & Sibley, C. G. (2016). Short communication: Empathic and social dominance orientations help explain gender differences in environmentalism: A oneyear Bayesian mediation analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 90, 85-88.

- Mohr, K., Backman, K. F., Gahan, L. W., & Backman, S. J. (1993). An investigation of festival motivations and event satisfaction by visitor type. *Festival Management and Event Tourism*, 1(3), 89-97.
- Nelson, R., Ström, P., & Bjälesjö, J. (2011). Divergent paths in regional economic development: A tale of two festival towns. *Small Cities Imprint*, 3(1), 86-104.
- Nicholson, R. E., & Pearce, D. G. (2001). Why do people attend events: A comparative analysis of visitor motivations at four South Island events. *Journal of Travel Research*, *39*, 449-460.
- Ooi, C., & Pedersen, J.S. (2010). City branding and film festivals: Re-evaluating stakeholder's relations. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy*, 6(4), 316-332.
- O'Rourke, S., Irwin, D., & Straker, J. (2011). Dancing to sustainable tunes: An exploration of music festivals and sustainable practices in Aotearoa. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 14(4), 341-354.
- Pan, B., & Huan, T. C. (2013). New perspectives on festival and events research. International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research, 7(2), 115-117.
- Pegg, S., & Patterson, I. (2010). Rethinking music festivals as a staged event: Gaining insights from understanding visitor motivations and the experiences they seek. *Journal* of Convention & Event Tourism, 11(2), 85-99.
- Pera, R., Occhiocupo, N., & Clarke, J. (2016). Motives and resources for value co-creation in a multi-stakeholder ecosystem: A managerial perspective. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(10), 4033-4041.
- Quinn, B. (2006). Problematising 'festival tourism': Arts festivals and sustainable development in Ireland. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 14(3), 288.
- Saheli, S., Nejad, P. Z., Mahmoudi, H., & Knierim, A. (2015). Gender, responsible citizenship and global climate change. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 50, 30-36.
- Song, Z., Xing, L., & Chathoth, P. K. (2015). The effects of festival impacts on support intentions based on residents' ratings of festival performance and satisfaction: A new integrative approach. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 23(2), 316-337.

- Smith, S., & Costello, C. (2009). Segmenting visitors to a culinary event: Motivations, travel behavior, and expenditures. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 18(1), 66-77.
- Stern, P. C., Dietz, T., & Guagnano, G. A. (1995). The new ecological paradigm in socialpsychological context. *Environment and Behavior*, 27, 723-743.
- Todd, L., Leask, A., & Ensor, J. (2017). Understanding primary stakeholders' multiple roles in hallmark event tourism management. *Tourism Management*, 59, 494-509.
- Turkulainen, V., Aaltonen, K., & Lohikoski, P. (2016). Managing project stakeholder communication: The QStock festival case. *Project Management Journal*, 46(6), 74-91.
- Whitfield, J., & Dioko, L. A. (2012). Measuring and examining the relevance of discretionary corporate social responsibility in tourism: Some preliminary evidence from the UK conference sector. *Journal of Travel Research*, 51(3), 289-302.
- Wong, I. A., Wan, Y. P., & Qi, S. (2015). Green events, value perceptions, and the role of consumer involvement in festival design and performance. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 23(2), 294-315.
- Zelezny, L. C., Chua, P. P., & Aldrich, C. (2000). Elaborating on gender differences in environmentalism. *Journal of Social Issues*, *56*, 443-457.
- Zhang, N., Williams, I. D., Kemp, S., & Smith, N. F. (2011). Greening academia: Developing sustainable waste management at higher education institutions. *Waste Management*, 31(7), 1606-1616.

## Chapter Four.

# Music Festivals Tapping into Their Own Potential: Utilizing Existing Skills to Foster Sustainability

Exemplary sustainability practices at music festival can be difficult to achieve. These are organizations that require large plots of land, enormous amounts of energy to run all the stage equipment, and gather hundreds, to hundreds of thousands, of people in a confined space for multiple days. Waste and pollution is inevitable, but it is also manageable. Environmental impact assessments ("EIAs") are a useful tool for identifying the problem areas and measuring environmental success in those festivals that have implemented programs. Yet, EIAs do not account for consumer impacts and they frequently do not offer practical solutions for either policy makers or festival managers. Stakeholder relationships are unique to every music festival and priorities often shift with changes in management or boards. This means that it is critical that every festival reviews and understands how their respective event is impacted by and communicates with its stakeholder groups. Sponsorship contracts and resource dependency lends many stakeholders strong influence on management decisions, highlighting the importance for each festival to develop relations with stakeholders who have shared values that are in alignment with one another. Only in this way can a festival be assured of support as it stays loyal to its cultural roots. As demonstrated above, patrons are arguably the most significant stakeholder, as they are the main driver of the music festival market and largest source of revenue that provides financial sustainability. Patrons have a unique relationship as these festivals provide symbolic meaning and social function to the attendees. Understanding their motives can help managers market the festival and create experiences for their guests, but there is a need to understand how environmental sustainability plays a role in the experiences of consumers. The physical environment, whether that be mountain peaks, a rural farm, or a city park, plays a central role in the creation of festival atmosphere. Through the interviews managers expressed a general concern for environmental practices and recognize that there is only one natural environment that we all share. This is a logical position for one to take: an environmentalist with a concern, for example, for a particular river would likely also express a concern for all rivers. Applying the same logic, a festival manager concerned about the environmental

impacts of his/her festival on a specific parcel of property (the festival grounds) also shares a concern about society's impacts on the environment in general. Thus there is potential for festivals to become teaching moments, delivering the message that if environmental stewardship matters here at our music festival, then it matters everywhere. All stakeholders including staff, patrons, and community members engage with these environments in some capacity even when not involved in the festival, and organizers need to actively sustain the environments that support their success.

#### LIMITATIONS

A growing number of festivals in British Columbia recycle, sort waste, encourage carpooling, and operate with a leave-no-trace attitude, but still fall well short of anything resembling comprehensive programs that fully separate all discarded food and materials or reduce negative consequences such as energy usage and pollution. Operational barriers such as financial constraints, lack of suppliers and resources, increased pressure on the volunteer roster and the lack of control over patron behavior deter management from fully committing to environmentally responsible decisions that encompass the majority of festival functions. This study brings to the forefront new knowledge to local festival communities, however the limitations of the study must also be noted. An initial delimitation concerned the number of festivals to examine. Due to the time constraint of the master's research project, it was decided that three music festivals were the appropriate number. While there was a possibility to conduct interviews with other music festival managers, it was not possible to also survey their festival attendees, and it was important that the research methods remained consistent throughout. While each interview covered the same topics and followed the same interview guide, the semi-structured format meant that each interview played out differently and followed the natural path of conversation. As a result, the wording of the questions was not necessarily the same for each interviewee, nor did every interview contain the same information. This makes it difficult to compare specific questions and answers between interviewees. However, the objective was to have a deep understanding of the respondents' point of view. This reasoning also applies to the limitation of sample size. The study does not aim to assume all events to be the same as the three festivals focused in this study, but rather to include the perspectives and examples of smaller events in British Columbia into a broad

range of literature. The managers and festivals were chosen very carefully for their immense knowledge and experience in the industry to provide an example of how successful festivals in an understudied area are managing their stakeholder relationships and how a new perspective has potential to drive change. Limitations of the surveys must be recognized, as 200 respondents per festival is a relatively small sample size in festivals with 5,000 to 10,000 attendees. The majority of respondents were between the ages of 25 – 44, and research with an even distribution across age groups and gender could provide further knowledge of how demographics may play a role in consumer opinions. There were no t-tests or tests for statistical significance completed on the survey results as they functioned more as a secondary research method to inform the mangers and the researcher on patron opinion. It was emphasized by the interviewees that the results were to be disseminated in useful and relevant terms to the cooperating managers, rather than through statistical reporting.

Subsequent research should expand the interviewee base, as current research focuses on stakeholder theories from the view of festival managers, rather than directly from stakeholders. This includes business stakeholder groups, community members, and further research on patron perspectives. As this study reveals that communication between stakeholders is crucial to sustainability, gaining direct knowledge from different stakeholder groups would almost certainly provide new findings. Applying the findings of this research to festivals of varying size across British Columbia may also lead to deeper insights, especially considering how influential the patrons and personal opinions of managers are to the success of environmental practices. In-depth interviews with attendees would allow for more elaborate thoughts and concerns to be voiced, as well as greater understanding of the role of environment on experience and purchase intention. Lastly, as this research has broader applications across a swathe of events, it is also suggested that researchers further explore how different events may also be impacted by stakeholder relations, personal values of management, and visitor opinion.

#### CONCLUSION

This study increases comprehension on how the complexity of stakeholder relationships can prove prohibitive to overcome the operational barriers of environmentalism, but also how managers can leverage their platform for stakeholders to create new partnerships that foster and support primary values around sustainability. Additionally, this research was able to demonstrate that having a clear understanding of how the physical environment shapes festival-goers experience, and the importance of conserving that environment, provides powerful insights that can inform future marketing initiatives. One of the primary contributions of this study is that it provides management with deeper understandings into a wide range of barriers. This in turn enables a more solid understanding of how to move beyond simple measures and craft a more sophisticated and flexible environmental strategy that reduces risk, anticipates obstacles, and greatly improves the odds of successful implementation. Understanding how some stakeholder partnerships can actually restrict new programs is one example of a more sophisticated and strategic approach. Identifying barriers and communicating the full complexity of the issues to management means the right information gets into the hands of people who can develop long-term solutions and sustainable improvements to environmental policies and practices.

Another significant outcome of this study is that it serves to highlight the importance for managers to begin meaningful conversations around environmentalism with festival stakeholders, including the attendees. It was apparent, through the analyzed data of management interviews, that the economics and cultures of a festival are made possible through collaboration. These findings also supported previous research that emphasizes the importance of stakeholders for problem solving during times of distress (Getz & Andersson, 2008). The evidence in this study also indicates that partnerships should be created that enhance environmental practices as well, and that the right stakeholder, in addition to bolstering a festival's financial or cultural components, can also provide solutions to environmental barriers.

Most of the results and conclusions of this study are derived from the practical implications of the participatory research approach that was employed. Within the interviews, managers indicated that they did not think of their own stakeholder relationships as complicated, but rather viewed them within the context of business decisions. As our conversations deepened and more questions were asked, managers were forced to critically analyze their partnerships and reflect on how these relations impact both their day-to-day and big picture festival operations. This thought process was not intended to convince managers to change their associations, but to begin to acknowledge both the positive and negative

impacts that some relationships have. The reports developed specifically for managers gave them an opportunity to view their partnerships from an outside perspective and receive suggestions from a point of view without an inside investment. While the reports did not include interview transcripts in order to conceal any sensitive information, knowledge and practices between festivals were shared so that managers could learn from each other and connections within the industry could start to form. The knowledge produced through these conversations and exchanges is already being used in a meaningful way. The Roots and Blues music festival has dramatically improved their environmental practices for the 2018 festival and has begun to communicate with other festivals. Through the use of a community based participatory research methodology, the research results are clear, constructive and being put into action.

In the context of this study, we see that management has already been subjected to the influence that is exerted by competition and experienced the resulted pressure to change in different aspects of their business. This often sets into motion a snowball effect that occurs when new opportunities for collaboration arise. In this capacity, when festivals create partnerships with environmentally conscious stakeholders, others will likely begin to take interest in the festival as well. This study also demonstrates a need for environmental practices that address the particular concerns of patrons. Survey results revealed a growing awareness of the importance of conserving the environment along with an expectation of action. The potential for supportive collaboration in combination with new knowledge around patron opinions in turn creates stronger incentives for management to begin shifting environmentalism into their core values, as a successfully managed event must meet the needs of patrons and partners (Getz & Andersson, 2010; Pegg & Patterson, 2010; Pine & Gilmore, 1999). As this study shows, recognizing and utilizing the full potential of festival platforms is a worthy consideration because of the prospective reach of festivals and their unique ability to educate and create demand through their interactions with stakeholders and patrons. A shift in values on behalf of management can result in long-term improvements to festival sustainability and also initiate a potential chain reaction that creates pressure for other festivals to evolve. This will build towards a critical mass in the demand for environmental resources from suppliers and educate patrons in the process.

The impacts of mega events like the Olympics or FIFA World Cup have been studied thoroughly (Collins et al., 2009; Lenskyj, 2008; Michopoulou & Giuliano, 2018; Parkes et al., 2016; Prayag et al., 2013), and it is time to recognize the positive and negative impacts of smaller events occurring in all areas of the world, many of which are working towards a more sustainable future (Mair & Laing, 2012). As popular global media events are filled with nationalism and excitement, they are often at the center of debates because of their equal potential to both benefit and disempower the host community, participants, and other stakeholders (Jackson & Scherer, 2013; Lim & Lee, 2006). There is a disproportionate focus on the effects of mega events as critical analyses reveal economic, cultural and environmental concerns. These are issues that also need to be addressed, and examined, in smaller events throughout the world, where local and regional communities are being affected in the same way. This research explored the issues that are faced by smaller music festivals in British Columbia. The study worked with and involved festival management in the process of understanding stakeholder relationships on financial, environmental and cultural levels. Personal interviews with management provided a detailed look into quotidian operations and communications with stakeholders. This study emphasizes the importance of an inclusive understanding of all stakeholders in order to move forward with environmental initiatives.

Smaller scale music festivals may not attract global media attention or produce the same economic income as a mega event, but their symbolic meaning and cultural influence are equally powerful and should be recognized as such. The meaning of a festival cannot be captured with a single definition, but at the base of all festivals is a public, cultural celebration; a bringing together of people for a common purpose to create a sense of belonging (Getz, 1991). Captured well by Falassi (1987), he indicates that "both the social function and the symbolic meaning of the festival are closely related to a series of overt values that the community recognizes as essential to its ideology and worldview, to its social identity, its historical continuity, and to its physical survival, which is ultimately what festival celebrates" (p. 2). There is considerable potential for music festivals to become leaders in sustainability. Managers already possess many of the skills to foster the relationships that are required to achieve this goal. Many festivals already have a supportive base of patrons that are interested in pursuing sustainable practices. Music festivals do cause

negative impacts on the environment and in the communities where they are hosted, but the benefits greatly outweigh these impacts. For this reason, and because of the multitude of people reaping a diversity of benefits, it is imperative that we continue to foster, and contribute to research that supports sustainable music festivals.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Collins, A., Jones, C., & Munday, M. (2009). Assessing the environmental impacts mega sporting events: Two options? *Tourism Management*, 30, 828-837.
- Falassi, A. (1987). Festival: Definition and morphology. *Time out of Time: Essays on the Festival*, 1-10.
- Getz, D. (1991). *Festivals, special events, and tourism*. New York, NY: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Getz, D., & Andersson, T. D. (2008). Sustainable festivals: On becoming an institution. *Event Management*, 12(1), 1-17.
- Getz, D., & Andersson, T. (2010). Festival stakeholders: Exploring relationships and dependency through a four-country comparison. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Research*, (4), 531.
- Jackson, S. J., & Scherer, J. (2013). Rugby world cup 2011: Sport mega-events and the contested terrain of space, bodies and commodities. *Sport in Society*, *16*(7), 883-898.
- Lenskyj, H. J. (2008). *Olympic industry resistance: Challenging Olympic power and propaganda*. New York, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Lim, S. T., & Lee, J. S. (2006). Host population perceptions of the impact of mega-events. *Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research*, 11(4), 407-421.
- Mair, J., & Laing, J. (2012). The greening of music festivals: Motivations, barriers and outcomes. Applying the Mair and Jago model. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 20(5), 683-700.
- Michopoulou, E., & Giuliano, C. (2018). Understanding mega-events success and customer satisfaction. *Event Management*, 22(1), 9-23.
- Parkes, O., Lettieri, P., & Bogle, I.D. (2016). Defining a quantitative framework for evaluation and optimization of the environmental impacts of mega-event projects. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 167, 236-245.
- Pegg, S., & Patterson, I. (2010). Rethinking music festivals as a staged event: Gaining insights from understanding visitor motivations and the experiences they seek. *Journal* of Convention & Event Tourism, 11(2), 85-99.

- Pine, B., & Gilmore, J. (1999). *The experience economy: Work is theatre and every business a stage*. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Prayag, G., Hosany, S., Nunkoo, R., & Alders, T. (2013). London residents' support for the 2012 Olympic games: The mediating effect of overall attitude. *Tourism Management*, *36*, 629-640.

# Appendices

## **Appendix A: Interview Guide**

Position

- 1. What is your position within this festival and what does this role entail?
- 2. How long have you been in this position?
- 3. What type of organization is your festival: private, public, or not-for-profit?
- 4. How would you describe the atmosphere of your festival, including key aspects like genre and theme?

Sustainability

- 1. What does sustainability mean to your festival, and what are the goals of sustainability?
- 2. Are you meeting these goals?
- 3. Are you currently aware of the environmental impacts of music festivals? If yes, please describe.
- 4. Do you have a specific management plan related to environmental impacts in place?
- 5. What are the main barriers that your company faces when it comes to implementing or continuing environmental programs?
- 6. Who regulates environmental practices?
- 7. Have any stakeholders expressed interest in your environmental programs?
- 8. When it comes to environmental, cultural, and economic sustainability, where would you place these in your festivals priorities and why?
- 9. In your experience, what is the most common concern/issue relating to sustainability with your festival?

Stakeholder Relationships

- 1. Who does your festival consider as stakeholders?
- 2. Are there stakeholders that take priority over others?
- 3. How do you choose which businesses or groups to create partnerships with?
- 4. Which stakeholders do you consider key to the survival of the festival?

- 5. How do you feel the partnerships you create affect the sustainability of your festival?
- 6. How do the partnerships you make influence management decisions?
- 7. In your experience, who provides the most stability economically to your festival?
- 8. In your experience, who provides the most support environmentally to your festival?
- 9. How do the opinions and motivations of attendees affect management decisions?
- 10. Reflecting on the previous questions, how would you describe the key values of your festival and how do these partnerships ensure these values are met?

### **Appendix B: Survey Questions**

**Environmental Perceptions** 

- 1. Are you aware of the environmental impacts of music festivals?
  - Yes
  - No
  - Somewhat
- 2. How would you rate the importance of the following? (Likert Scale)
  - Recycling
  - Proper Disposal of Waste
  - Use of Environmentally friendly products
  - Ticket Price
  - Good Atmosphere
  - Artistic Line-up
- 3. When buying a ticket, do you look at the environmental policies of the festival?
  - Yes
  - No
- 4. Are you more likely to attend a festival that has environmental practices over one that does not?
  - Yes
  - No
- 5. Are you willing to pay to aid in combating negative environmental impacts from festivals? (Skip Logic Included)
  - Yes
  - No
- If yes, what is the maximum amount you would be willing to pay to aid in combating negative environmental impacts from festivals? (\$0 \$5, \$5 \$10, \$10 \$15, \$15-\$20, \$20+)
- 7. If you answered no, why are you not willing to pay?
  - I cannot afford to pay an additional fee
  - It is the responsibility of the organizations to pay for these impacts
  - I don't think the impacts are large enough to worth paying a fee
  - I do not like to pay for such things
  - Other

### Demographics:

- 8. What is your province of residence? (drop down menu)
- 9. What is your sex?
  - Male
  - Female
  - Prefer not to say
- 10. What is your age? (range menu)